
ESR Annual Report / 2021-2022

INTEGRATED 
ANNUAL
REPORT

21
22



Background
Eswatini Railways is a parastatal organisation that provides 
transport services for import and export commodities in Eswatini. 
We also serve as a bridge railway for transit cargo, linking Eswatini’s 
main industrial centres with the railway systems of South Africa, 
Mozambique and other Southern African Development Community 
(SADC) countries.
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OUR OPERATING STRUCTURE

Hon. Minister of Public Works 
and Transport

ESR Board 
of Directors

Chief Executive 
Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Director Engineering

Director Operations and Marketing

Director Human Resources and Development

OUR VISION

To be a sustainable, high-performance 
logistics organisation.

OUR MISSION

We provide total logistics solutions to 
promote trade.

OUR VALUES

Reliability We are dependable.

Accountability We are honest in our business 
dealings, and we take 
responsibility for them.

Professionalism We have the competence and 
skills to provide total logistics 
solutions to promote trade. We 
are able to be your preferred 
logistics partner to global 
markets.

People centric We put people first. Meaningful 
relationships are essential to the 
performance and relevance of 
Eswatini Railways.



About this 
report

This report, our first integrated annual report, presents a concise, coherent and transparent description of how Eswatini 
Railways (ESR) delivers on its vision of being a sustainable high-performance logistics organisation.

It differs from previous annual reports in that its compilation and narrative reflect the organisation’s efforts to represent 
performance not only in terms of financial information, but also in terms of how we create and deliver shareholder 
value in the short-, medium- and long-term. (For more on strategy, see page 24.) 

REPORTING BOUNDARY

This integrated annual report presents a fair and 
balanced account of Eswatini Railways for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2022. It outlines the material 
matters relating to our strategy, our business model, 
the context in which we operate, our performance 
and governance, as well as the material risks and 
opportunities arising from them, and that we have 
identified in line with best practice. 

HOW TO NAVIGATE OUR REPORT

The following icons illustrate where you can find more 
information about our approach, activities and mandate 
and how they interconnect with our capitals.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The report was prepared in line with the principles 
and requirements of the International Sustainability 
Standards Board’s (ISSB) Integrated Reporting 
Framework. It was also prepared persuasively with 
regard to the ideals and aspirations described in the 
King IV Code on Corporate Governance (King IV).

Our annual financial statements, from page  88  to 145, 
were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), and in the manner required 
by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended. 

CAPITAL ICON
Financial Capital [FC]

Intellectual Capital [IC]

Human Capital [HC]

Social and Relationship Capital [SC]

Manufactured Capital [MC]

Natural Capital [NC] 

For more on our capitals, see page 07.
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About this report (continued)

MATERIALITY

We consider an issue to be material if it has the potential to 
impact our ability to create value, our continued existence 
as a business, or on our social relevance and relationships 
with our stakeholders. Our material issues, described on 
page 28, were determined by a review of our Blue Ocean 
strategy 2019–2022 (page 47); our interaction with 
our six capitals (page 07); our social, economic and 
environmental operating environment (page 09); and 
through engagement with our stakeholders to better 
understand their expectations and concerns (page 20). 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors (the Board), supported by the Audit 
and Risk Committee, acknowledges its responsibility for 
overseeing and ensuring the integrity of this integrated 
report. Executive management, assisted by the reporting 
team, was responsible for the preparation of this 
report. The Board has applied its collective mind to the 
presentation and preparation of the report and believes it 
to fairly represent the matters that have a material effect 
on Eswatini Railways’ ability to create value.  

This integrated report was accordingly approved by the 
Board on 28 November 2022.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This report contains certain forward-looking statements, 
and is based on expectations and assumptions 
pertaining to the impact of future events on Eswatini 
Railways’ strategy, performance and operations. These 
statements reflect both known and as yet unknown risks, 
uncertainties, and other important factors that could cause 
our actual results, performance or achievements to be 
materially different from the future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such  
forward-looking statements. See more on strategy and 
operations on pages 24 and 39.

Eswatini Railways undertakes no obligation to publicly 
update or revise these forward-looking statements to 
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this 
document, or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated 
events. The forward-looking statements have not been 
reviewed or reported on by the auditors. 



Eswatini Railways at a glance

Financial performance continued to decline, reflecting lost 
traffic revenue of approximately E56 m due to a combination of 
factors related to the Eswatini economy and others emanating 

from the SA economy. Eswatini in general and ESR  
in particular was challenged by sluggish business  

as well as operational setbacks, including  
inadequate rolling stock and  

community unrests.
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E247.2m
Revenue

(2021: E264.3m) 

(E16.2m) 
(Loss)/profit  

before tax

(2021: E6.2m)

(7%)
Operating  

margin

(2021: 2%)

(2%)
Return on capital 

employed

(2021: 3%) 

6.4m  
tonnes

Commodities  
moved

(2021: 6.1m tonnes)

8m  
tonnes  

[6.4m]  
Cargo moved

(2021: 85%)  

2 037m 
 Gross tonnes  
per kilometre

(measure of how 
effectively each 

locomotive is used)

358
 Permanent  
employees

(2021: 372) 
 

PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS
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Who we are
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ESR is rated one of the best railways in the SADC region in terms 
of transit time, reliability and predictability.
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Who we are

Eswatini Railways is a parastatal organisation that provides 
transport services for import and export commodities in 
Eswatini. We also serve as a transit railway for transit cargo, 
linking Eswatini’s main industrial centres with the railway 
systems of South Africa, Mozambique and other Southern 
African Development Community (SADC) countries. 

ESR is rated one of the best railways in the SADC region 
in terms of transit time, reliability and predictability. 
The organisation owns and maintains its infrastructure and 
rolling stock, and operates a 301km rail network as well as 
a state-of-the-art dry port which functions as a satellite port 
for Durban Port. Our head office is located in Mbabane. 

Our East-West rail network extends from Matsapha 
industrial site to Phuzumoya where it connects with 
the Northern rail link to access the South African ports of 
Durban and Richards Bay. 

The North-South line connects from Mananga to the 
South African ports of Durban and Richards Bay. This line 
also provides an access point to Zimbabwe, Zambia and 
the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), with a link to 
Johannesburg via Komatipoort.

Transit cargo accounts for over 75% of our total revenue, 
derived mainly from two commodities – magnetite and 
rock phosphate. 

The mandate of the Eswatini 
Railways according to the 

Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, 
is “to provide or to secure  

and promote the provision 
of an efficient and adequate 

system of public transport of 
goods and passengers by rail, 

with due regard to economy 
and safety of operations, and 

to supply the needs of Eswatini 
for rail services to the fullest 

possible extent consistent with 
the resources of the railway.”

OUR MANDATE

OUR MOTTO

Efficiency redefined. We 
have taken a conscious 

decision geared towards 
re-igniting confidence in 

the market while fostering 
efficiency and reliability. 

12 million  
tonnes of  

cargo a year 

2 000–6 400  
gross tonnes  

per train, with 
between 40 and 80 

wagons per train

EXPORTS  
sugar, canned fruit, 

ethanol, timber, 
coal (transit from SA 
through Eswatini to 

Mozambique)

IMPORTS 
petroleum products, 
fuel, wheat, cement, 

general goods  
and coal  

INSTALLED  
NETWORK  
CAPACITY

LOAD  
SIZE

TYPE OF 
TRAFFIC



OUR CAPITALS 

Financial capital [FC]

 » Financial reserves

 » Operating budget

 » Revenue 

 » Debt funding

 » Productivity  

 » Return on assets

Intellectual capital [IC]

 » Policies, procedures

 » Processes and systems, documented best practice

 » An organisational culture that facilitates and 
encourages innovation

 » Operational frameworks

 » Information technology capacity

 » HR methodology and initiatives

 » Brand equity

Human capital [HC]

 » Employees

 » Organisational culture 

 » Training, learning and talent 

Social and relationship capital [SR]

 » Eswatini Government

 » Customers, partners 

 » Community/society

 » Health and wellness practice

 » Brand and reputation

 » Employees

 » Employee assistance programme

Manufactured capital [MC]

 » 301km of railway lines

 » Wagons and rolling stock

 » Infrastructure and equipment

 » Property 

 » Computer and IT infrastructure

 » Vehicles

Natural capital [NC]

 » Water and energy usage

 » Land under development

Republic of 
South Africa
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To Richards Bay

Matsapha 2
466,08km

Mpaka
120,874km

Lubhuku
140,837km

Phuzumoya
156,173km

Pumane
171,853km

Big Bend
194,95km

Nsoko
215,71km

Zibe
235,015km

Lavumisa
258,015km

Mhlume
73km

Sidvokodvo
439,487km

Piggs Peak

Eswatini Railways – Systems map

North-South 
line

189km

East-West line 112km

301 route and 
yard km 

 » Mananga to Golela 189km

 » Matsapha to Phuzumoya 
65km

 » Mpaka to Goba 51km

ERL Northwest 
line 

143km additional capacity
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Who we are (continued)

ESR is strategically connected to SADC railways

SOUTH AFRICA

NAMIBIA

BOTSWANA

LESOTHO

ESWATINI

RICHARDS BAY

DURBAN

ZIMBABWE

MOZAMBIQUE

ZAMBIA

ANGOLA

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC 
OF CONGO 

UGANDA

KENYA

TANZANIA

CONGO
GABON

MALAWI

BURUNDI

RWANDA

NS Corridor
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Our operating environment

LOCAL ECONOMIC TRENDS

The country’s economy rebounded in 2021, despite 
the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
June 2021 political unrest. Real GDP grew by 7.4% in 2021 
following a 1.9% contraction in 2020. 

Source: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.
KD.ZG?locations=SZ

Economic growth is projected to continue its upward 
trend in 2022 with GDP expected to increase by 2% in 
2022 and 1.8% in 2023, reflecting the implementation 
of the Government’s three-year fiscal adjustment 
programme and underpinned by a modest recovery in 
all sectors.  Inflationary pressures are building however, 
revealing the impact of oil and food price increases due 
to the Russia-Ukraine war. Year-on-year inflation started 
to rise in December 2021 (to 3.5% from 3% in November 
2021) after declining for three consecutive months from 
September 2021. Inflation increased further in January 
2022 to 3.6%, prompting the Central Bank to increase the 
repo rate (for the first time since July 2020) from 3.75% 
to 4.0%.

Source: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/eswatini/
overview#1

The Russia-Ukraine war has also driven up prices of 
commodities such as iron ore, coal and crude oil 
which, in turn, has affected the economic climate in 
Eswatini. The fuel price climbed by 31% in first quarter 
alone, something that up until now was unheard of in 
the country.

For ESR, however, as the price of coal and iron ore 
skyrocketed, customers sought to move coal via road 
to rail. The simultaneous revival of the Ngwenya iron 
ore mine for beneficiation, the establishment of the 
Phuzamoya fuel reserve facility,  and the reopening of 
coal mines at Maloma and Mpaka have been good for the 
country, ESR and the economy at large.

These activities will not only create job opportunities, 
revive the economy and contribute to restoring investor 
confidence, but will also attract foreign direct investment. 

RAIL: A GROWING INDUSTRY 

Global demand for transport is expanding rapidly, with 
both passenger and freight activity expected to more than 
double by 2050. This growth brings with it greater energy 
demand and increased CO2 emissions. Increased use of rail 
has the potential to cut that growth. 

Rail is among the most energy efficient modes of transport 
for both freight and passengers – while the rail sector 
carries 8% of the world’s passengers and 7% of global 
freight transport, it represents only 2% of total transport 
energy demand. The future of rail will be determined by 
how it responds to the spiralling demand for transport and 
mounting pressure from competing transport modes.

Rising incomes and population growth in developing 
and emerging economies are driving growth in freight 
as well,  due to an increased demand for rapid delivery 
of higher value and lighter goods. The rail sector offers 
substantial advantages in this regard, although additional 
strategic investments in rail infrastructure, improved 
commercial competitiveness and technological innovation 
are required.

Source: https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-rail
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Chairman’s statement
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The future of rail will be determined by how it responds to 
the spiralling demand for transport and mounting pressure 
from competing transport modes.
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It is my privilege to present the Eswatini Railways’ first 
integrated annual report and annual financial statements 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2022, on behalf of 
the Board.

ESR is far more than just a 
railway business and, despite 

the many challenges locally 
and globally, I believe we 

are well placed to leverage 
existing opportunities in 

the market and achieve our 
vision to provide a total and 

seamless logistics solution for 
the movement of cargo.

For the last year or two, implementation of our 
diversification strategy has been hamstrung by the 
aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic. This year, however, 
we managed to gain some ground amidst our challenges, 
and I am optimistic about ESR’s future.

A DECLINE IN PERFORMANCE

Railways by nature are capital-intensive businesses that 
require long-term infrastructure and, while ESR’s balance 
sheet is over E1 billion, revenue is lagging at E247 275 373.

We had hoped for swifter economic recovery and stronger 
financial performance, but unfortunately this was not to 
be and I am rather disappointed with our performance. 
Nevertheless, I am satisfied that the tools and strategies to 
build and shape a better organisation are in place. I believe 
we are on a positive trajectory, even though it is taking 
longer to yield results than projected.

As a small, landlocked country Eswatini is vulnerable to 
international and regional developments over which we 
have no control. Additionally, while some of our cargo 
originates locally, much of it comes from South Africa 
and only traverses our line. 

Two years ago we therefore took a strategic decision to 
identify areas we can control and to explore alternative 
revenue streams so as not to remain dependent on our 
existing lines. We also wanted to attract more cargo to 
utilise our lines more effectively.

FLAGSHIP PROJECT

An agreement with South African logistics company 
Grindrod, to deliver coal via road to Sidvokodvo where it is 
loaded onto the train and transported to Maputo, became 
our flagship project for the year, increasing coal volumes 
dramatically from just 8 684 tonnes when the project 
started in December 2021 to 58 469 tonnes in March 2022.

While we had to move swiftly to take advantage of 
this new business opportunity with Grindrod, our risk 
assessments remained rigorous and well managed. 
(Read more about risk on page 32.)

The three-year renewable contract kicked off in  
April 2022 and the spin-off for the country has been 
enormous. Suddenly 80 trucks were required to transport 
coal, 30% of which had to be eMaswati-owned; new jobs 
were created for the local community at the siding; and 
fuel sales increased since truck operators prefer to fill up in 
this country where prices are lower than in South Africa. 

Our projects are testimony 
to the role that rail plays 
in stimulating economic 

activities across the different 
sectors of this country’s 

economy.
The establishment of the Mpaka Inland Container Depot 
(ICD), which, although not yet operational, is a further 
example of successful diversification at ESR. (Read more 
about our projects on page 11.)
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Chairman’s statement (continued)

This year we made great strides with the long-delayed 
E30 billion Eswatini Rail Link (ESRL) project that we are 
co-financing with South Africa. Agreements were signed 
with Transnet Freight Rail (TFR) and, once complete, the 
ESRL will provide a more efficient link between Gauteng, 
Durban and Maputo. 

Funds for initial works have been disbursed and the 
resettlement of homesteads along the track is underway. 

REGULATORY CHANGES

Recent changes in legislation put a stop to the import of 
second-hand (grey) vehicles. At a macro level, this decision 
is good news for the country due to the share of SACU 
receipts. It did make things tough for ESR, however, and we 
lost E4 million in transport revenue. 

A FUTURE-FIT ORGANISATION

An organisational culture that speaks to our future is 
imperative if ESR is to fulfil its strategic objectives.  
Realising the need to reassess the way we operate and 
adapt our mindset, we conducted an organisational review 
during the year to help us transform and build a future-fit, 
high-performing organisation. Following some initial 
teething problems, everyone involved is now aligned and 
the organisational review report was approved by the 
Board. Implementation has started and the roll out will 
continue during the course of this year and into the new 
financial year.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

We are blessed with a competent, professional and 
committed Board that is performing well, meets regularly 
and understands our strategy and their role in its delivery. 
(Read more about our Board and corporate governance on 
page 70.)

OUTLOOK

Going forward, ESR has the twin challenge of not only 
maintaining and restoring growth, but of developing  
a value creation strategy that is independent of 
commodity prices.

Eswatini Railways holds enormous potential and there is a 
great deal we can do to facilitate the movement of cargo. 
However, for this to happen we require access to capital, 
possibly off-balance sheet financing, and solid alliances 
and development finance partners who share a common 
interest. As I’ve said, railways are capital intensive; we 
cannot do it alone. 

We have big plans for the future and I am looking forward 
to the journey ahead.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of our management and employees, I would like 
to extend my appreciation to the Minister of Public Works, 
Chief Ndlaluhlaza Ndwandwe, for your invaluable support 
and guidance. 

My sincere appreciation goes to my fellow Board members 
for their unswerving commitment and manner in which 
they have applied themselves to the hurdles the business 
has faced over the past year. We are beginning to see light 
at the end of the tunnel. 

Thanks are also due to our many stakeholders, customers, 
partners and suppliers for your continued support. 

Finally, I would like to thank our management and 
employees. The past several years have been challenging, 
not only due to COVID-19 and a sluggish economy, but 
also as a result of our efforts to refresh and rethink our 
business. 

Change is not always comfortable or easy, but you 
continue to step up and give of your best. It is deeply 
appreciated.

Alex Mfanuzile Mngomezulu

Board Chairperson

28 November 2022 
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It gives me great pleasure to present Eswatini Railways’ first 
integrated annual report to stakeholders. This year’s report 
touches on our six capitals and forms the baseline from which 
we will track future progress and performance
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The past year has been undeniably tumultuous and we 
battled social unrest and violence in June 2021, as well 
as vandalism and cable theft in both Eswatini and South 
Africa. Although ESR were not under direct threat from the 
civil unrest, we were compelled to take measures to secure 
our infrastructure and continued to move trains with the 
help of the security forces. Fortunately, we suffered neither 
loss of life nor equipment. 

Despite a turbulent operating environment, it brought out 
the best in the organisation, forcing us to be innovative, 
agile and resilient to weather the storm. 

Eswatini Railways is unique in that despite being a 
parastatal, we do not receive funding from Government. 
With the exception of major capital works, our day-to-day 
operations and minor infrastructure requirements are 
funded through our balance sheet. 

 ESR relies heavily on transit 
traffic revenue which 

accounts for more than 70% 
of total commodity revenue, 

with imports and exports 
comprising less than 30%. 

This places us in a precarious 
position should anything 

happen to disrupt the flow of 
transit traffic. 

Consequently, a challenging operating environment that 
saw trains cancelled due to cable theft and rocketing diesel 
prices triggered by the Russia-Ukraine war left us unable to 
finance a number of strategic initiatives. Although we do 
recover some costs from customers, we were nonetheless 
hard hit. 

In addition, rail’s local market share is less than 30%, with 
the balance of rail-friendly import and export commodities 
transported by road. With sluggish local economic growth 
prospects, ESR is compelled to diversify within the logistics 

chain, to survive and avoid requesting financial assistance 
from an already overstretched Government. (Read more 
about our strategy on page 22.)

We were beset by other challenges too. We had hoped 
to secure funding for construction of the Eswatini Rail 
Link (ESRL), but were delayed by the lingering effects of 
COVID-19 and a slower than expected business recovery. 
Construction has not been as rapid as anticipated, 
although civil works have started and people along the 
proposed line are being relocated. (Read more about our 
projects on page 42.)

On a positive note, we recorded a strong cash balance 
during the year as Government funding to resettle those 
affected by the ESRL project had not yet been spent.  
The funds, held predominantly in money market 
instruments, yielded good interest. 

A surprising lack of rolling stock in the SADC region 
presented us with three options: refurbish redundant 
rolling stock, import the stock from overseas service 
providers, or contract from manufacturing companies in 
South Africa. This third option, although a longer-term 
solution, is preferable since it will enable ESR to import 
services into the country and build local skills. At this stage, 
however, with no stock on hand, we were obliged to 
convert some of our older wagons to accommodate the 
commodities being moved.

GROWING A TRANSIT HUB

We enjoy a symbiotic relationship with both Transnet 
Freight Rail (TFR) and CFM; we utilise their rolling stock 
and they are our biggest partners. However, cable theft 
and vandalism has left TFR unable to cope with volumes, 
prompting mines to transport their goods by trucks.  
This situation presented us with an opportunity to use 
Eswatini as a transit hub, shifting market perceptions of 
intermodal transport of bulk commodities. 

PROJECTS

The new container business has been successful due, 
in part, to the soaring price of containers on the back of 
COVID-19. For the same reason, the bonded warehouse at 
Matsapha did not take off as anticipated, and an aggressive 
campaign to market our underutilised facilities was 
launched. 
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With coal now transported to Eswatini via trucks  
before being loaded onto trains bound for Maputo,

 ESR’s coal business 
accelerated from 8 000 tonnes 

in December 2021 to an 
impressive 58 000 tonnes in 

March 2022. 
local secondary economies have likewise been 
strengthened. 

Our timber business mushroomed similarly, from 15 to 
120 leased trucks, to meet increased export volumes 
as we shifted the movement of timber that was being 
transported via road from Bhunya to Richards Bay back 
onto rail. The benefit is twofold: road freight companies 
now move the timber shorter, more profitable distances, 
and ESR is able to transport the longer haul by rail.

We have long been dependent on the Durban port but 
when the floods in KwaZulu-Natal in April 2022 curtailed 
activity, we realised the need for additional lines and 
began the process of signing up for port space. The new 
inland container depot (ICD) at Mpaka was prioritised 
to capture traffic in the eastern part of the country, 
supporting agricultural inputs such as fertiliser, sugar and 
ethanol. The project is currently at construction stage, with 
operationalisation of the facility scheduled for the end of 
April 2022. (Read more about our projects on page 42.) 

STRENGTHENING TECHNOLOGY

COVID-19 compelled us to find new ways of working and 
to strengthen our IT systems to accommodate working 
remotely. We consequently re-evaluated our office space, 
terminating lease agreements to ensure maximum use of 
our own premises. 

Microsoft 365 was successfully rolled out across the 
business as part of our efforts to integrate systems 
and optimise efficiencies and processes, and we are 
gradually introducing technology enablement across 
the organisation, from train driver through to the office 
environment.

We also made headway with the extension of the ESR 
train control system to plot more trains. Training is 
complete and the next step will be to have on-board 
computers in the driver’s cab. The Global System for Mobile 
Communications (GSM) are in the process of collecting 
and monitoring data so that once the system is installed, 
we will be assured of accurate information. (Read more 
about Engineering on page 47.)

ORGANISATIONAL REVIEW

Changing the ESR corporate culture and building the skills 
necessary to support a high-performing organisation 
requires redesigning the organisation. An inventory of skills 
was completed and, while there is a great deal of work 
ahead, we have made inroads. (Read more about building 
a high-performing organisation on page 74.)

Roadshows were held across the business and all levels 
of employees were invited to submit ideas on business 
diversification. Employees with the best ideas were invited 
to a dinner with the CEO. 

Winning suggestions included growing aspects of the 
business such as the transport of seasonal citrus fruit, the 
timber business and yellow and white maize imported 
from South Africa.

There is no doubt that we have an ambitious strategy 
with a clear direction, and it is now incumbent on us to 
gain buy-in from Exco. As management consultant Peter 
Drucker said, “culture eats strategy for breakfast”, and drastic 
measures must be taken if we are to create a  
high-performing organisation and a culture that supports 
the strategy. It is no longer business as usual.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS 

Employee relations are sound, although interactions with 
the staff association could be improved. Fortunately, the 
business has proved resilient and we have come through 
the pandemic without having to retrench employees. 

A lack of targeted stakeholder management was identified 
as a weakness in our organisational review. Thus, in the 
upcoming year, we intend to prioritise engagement with 
all our stakeholders, including Transnet Freight Rail (TFR) 
where the bulk of transit traffic originates, The Company 
Ports and Railways of Mozambique (CFM), our clients, 
government ministries and departments, with a view to 
enhancing mutually-beneficial relationships. (Read more 
about stakeholder management on page 24.)

Message from the Chief  
Executive Officer (continued)
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Government is funding the resettlement of communities 
to ensure a 150 metre servitude along the line due to 
expansion and E235 million has been paid over to the 
affected farmers thus far. Despite hostility at the outset of 
the project, we are fortunate to have people who believe 
in and support the ESRL. (Read more about the ESRL on  
page 24.)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGY

It was a tough year for ESR, and we recorded a 
disappointing net loss of E16 176 million before tax. In 
addition, despite constrained spending and a subsequent 
E24 178 million (7%) saving on costs, revenue dipped 
by 6%, while implementation of our 2019–2022 strategy 
was held back by COVID-19. The only notable capital 
expenditure during the year was the construction of the 
Mpaka ICD.

Nevertheless, we have managed to gather speed, and 
I am reasonably satisfied with our achievements under 
the circumstances. The ongoing need to draw on cash 
reserves to fund operations in light of declining revenue, 
is however, a concern. (Read more about our performance 
on page 33.) 

OUTLOOK

In the short- to medium-term, Eswatini Railways is focused 
on being agile, responsive and predictable. This, we believe, 
will drive business from road to rail and we are upbeat about 
the opportunities that mining activities present. Additionally, 
we hope to transform Eswatini into a transit hub. 

Over the longer term we hope to commission projects 
such as ERL and strengthen our relationship with the 
sugar industry. Currently, moving cane to crush is done 
by road and negotiations have started to establish railway 
lines into the fields in the same way that Brazil, Australia, 
Mozambique, and less so Zimbabwe, have done. 

In addition, we are considering a port facility in Mozambique. 
Citrus requires refrigerated rolling stock to convey produce to 
the port, and customers battle to keep produce fresh, given 
the length of time it takes to get to port. ESR is thus lobbying 
for a dedicated facility in Maputo to address this problem.

I am confident that ESR will achieve its strategic objectives 
in the year ahead. We are beginning to see the green 
shoots of recovery and I have no doubt that the business 
is on the right track. Our export business has grown 
inordinately, opportunities abound, we have a sound 
reputation as a reliable partner and are well placed to 
continue to add sustainable value to all our stakeholders.
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Nixon Dlamini

Chief Executive Officer

28 November 2022 
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The year under review marked the end our three-year Blue 
Ocean Strategy 2019–2022. Some activities could not be 
completed, however, and the strategy has been rolled over 
until March 2023. In the meanwhile, we are articulating our  
2023–2026 strategy that comes into effect in April 2023.
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Delivering value

CREATING VALUE THROUGH STRATEGY

ESR views its strategy as a rolling strategy; a living document that is reviewed quarterly and re-aligned where necessary. This 
philosophy allows us to respond swiftly to any potential opportunities or threats and ensures that we remain relevant, while 
performing optimally.

Our strategy hinges off three programmes that we believe will transform the business into a sustainable, high-performance 
logistics organisation: business diversification, systems integration and stakeholder management. The strategy seeks 
to mitigate our reliance on a single source of revenue by capturing and creating new demand in untapped markets, 
broadening our service offering and adding value to customers; it forms an integral part of our intellectual capital.

Strategic focus areas

Business  
diversification

Systems  
integration

Stakeholder 
management

Eswatini Railway Strategy Map

Strategic  
Alliances

Responsive 
Organisation/

Project 
Implementation

Increase in 
Customer Base

Increase in  
Market Share

Project  
Financing

Revenue  
Growth

Cost  
Containment

Increased  
Productivity

Theme 1

Systems  
Integration

Service 
Excellence

Theme 2

Road to Rail  
Migration

Diversification  
of Business

Theme 3

 
Risk  

Management

Culture 
Change

High 
Performance

Effective 
Leadership 

Capacity

Change 
Management

Living ESR 
Values

Corporate 
Social 

Investment

Enhance 
Stakeholder 

Management

Performance 
Management

Effective 
Organisational 

Structure

LEARNING 
AND GROWTH 
PERSPECTIVE

How will we  
sustain our ability 

to improve?

PROCESS 
PERSPECTIVE

At what do we  
need to excel to  

fulfill customer  
expectations?

CUSTOMER 
PERSPECTIVE

How should we  
appear to customers?

FINANCIAL 
PERSPECTIVE

What are our most 
important financial 

outcomes?

SUSTAINABLE HIGH PERFORMANCE ORGANISATION



Tourists  
Passenger  

Trains

Containers  
(Imports and  

Exports)

 
Exports

 
Imports

Transit  
Traffic
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A study to determine the percentage split of commodities transported is currently under way.

Commodities transported

How our traffic is split

5  
STREAMS  

OF  
TRAFFIC

 Magnetite  General ores  Copper concentrate

 Rock phosphate  Fuel  Containers (south bound)

 General goods  Vermiculite ore  Sugar

 Coal
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OUR VALUE-CREATING BUSINESS MODEL

Our business model constitutes a fundamental part of our financial and intellectual capitals. Together with our capital 
inputs, and based on our strategy, it governs the manner in which we conduct our business activities to create value for 
our stakeholders. 

INPUTS

* For more on finance see page 88

* For more on HR, see page 62

* For more on risk, see page 31

* For more on strategy, see page 24

* For more on stakeholders, see page 71

Our six 
capitals

Satisfied customers and a thriving business

FINANCIAL CAPITAL* 
 » E247m Revenue
 » E1 109m Total assets
 » E709m Equity

HUMAN CAPITAL* 
 » 358 Employees
 » Board and organisational culture
 » Specialised skills

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL*
 » Policies, procedures and manuals 
 » Processes and systems 
 » Sole carrier
 » Strategy and operational frameworks 
 » Information technology and systems
 » Brand equity

SOCIAL AND  
RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL*
 » Ministry of Public Works and 

Government 
 » Partners, customers and suppliers
 » Employees
 » Community 
 » Media
 » Union

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL*
 » Property
 » Infrastructure and equipment
 » Vehicles
 » IT infrastructure 
 » Rolling stock
 » 301km railway line 

NATURAL CAPITAL*
 » Water and energy usage
 » Land under development

Delivering value (continued)



OUTPUTS

Delivering on our strategy through:
 » Diversification
 » Systems integration
 » Stakeholder engagement
 » Sustainable, efficient operations
 » Talent management
 » Retention of key skills 
 » Internal and external communications
 » High-performing organisation and 

innovative culture

While mitigating our critical risks, 
in the areas of:
 » Financial stability
 » Reduced dependence on transit revenue
 » Organisational transformation
 » Regulatory compliance
 » Stakeholder management 
 » Outdated technology

 » Transport  
services for 
import and export 
commodities

 » Bridge railway for 
transit cargo to 
and from SADC 
countries

 » Collection and 
distribution of 
local, regional 
and international 
cargo

 » CSI

 » Stakeholder 
management

 » Efficient 
transport of 
commodities 

 » Integration 
of Eswatini 
and the SADC 
region with the 
ports of Durban 
and Maputo

 » Cargo 
processing

 » Increased trade

OUTCOMES
For our stakeholders

Stakeholder Capital Outcome

Customers
[FC]
[SC]

 » Quality service delivery, effective and timely communication  
from deviations

 » More business

Employees
[HC]
[SC]

 » Career growth
 » Attracting, retaining and developing talent
 » Engaged and motivated employees

Government
[FC]
[SC]

 » CAPEX funding for ESR projects

Media [SC]  » Positive engagement and image

KEY 
ACTIVITIES

With Trade offs...
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The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, is 
responsible for the overall governance of risk. A risk profile 
and management plan is reviewed as part of the annual 
business planning process. These risks are cascaded 
through the organisation and mitigated at either a 
corporate or operational level

During the year under review, ESR continued to monitor 
internal and external developments likely to influence the 
organisation achieving its strategic objectives and ensured 
the implementation of risk mitigation activities. 

There were no changes to our risk management approach 
during the year other than budgeting for a system to 
tackle both qualitative and quantitative risk assessments. 
These are currently done manually. If funds permit, 
Cura, the Transnet system, will be introduced in the new 
financial year.

We define our material 
matters as those that  
have the potential to 

significantly impact  
Eswatini Railways’ ability 

to create and deliver value 
for our stakeholders or to 

influence the business in the 
short-, medium- or long-term.  

The management of risk 
forms a key component  

of our financial and 
intellectual capital.

The material matters identified have bearing on all our capitals.

Material matter Capital affected

Poor economic growth Financial
Obsolete technology Intellectual
Retention of critical skills Intellectual
Cyber fraud Financial, intellectual
Organisational culture Human, social and relationship
Cashflow/liquidity Financial
Dependency on transit traffic Financial 
High finance costs Financial 
Sustainability Financial
High performance culture Human
Stakeholder engagement Human
Integrated systems Intellectual

Material Matters 
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Risk management



31

Risk management 30

Our top risks 36

Emerging risks and opportunities 42

Our priorities 42

Risk heat map 43

We employ a structured, systemic risk management framework 
premised on ISO 31000 and which we apply to the management 
of both potential gains and potential losses.
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Risk is an inherent part of Eswatini Railways’ business and the identification and management of risk is central to us 
delivering on our corporate objectives and ensuring sound corporate governance. (Read more about risk and governance 
on page 38 and 82, respectively.)

Efforts are ongoing to embed risk management into the ESR culture so that everyone in the organisation becomes involved 
in and is accountable for the management of risk, rather than it being viewed as a separate activity. While progress has 
been made, risk management is not yet fully incorporated into our day-to-day business activities, and the integration of risk 
management silos has emerged as a critical success factor. 

We employ a structured, systemic risk management framework premised on ISO 31000 and which we apply to the 
management of both potential gains and potential losses.

Risk management
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OUR RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

STRATEGIC PROCESS

COMMITMENT 
AND MANDATE

 » Policy Statement
 » Risk Management 

Plan
 » Assurance Plan
 » Standards
 » Procedures and 

Guidelines

COMMUNICATE 
AND TRAIN

 » Communication and 
Reporting Plan

 » Training Strategy

ALLOCATE AND 
ORGANISE

 » Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee

 » Management Risk 
Steering Committee

 » Risk Manager
 » Risk Champions
 » Risk Owners and Control

MEASURE AND 
REVIEW

 » Control Assurance
 » RM Plan Progress
 » Governance Reporting
 » Performance Criteria
 » Benchmarking

RM INFORMATION 
SYSTEMS

 » Risk Registers
 » Treatment Plan
 » Assurance Plan
 » Reporting Templates

TACTICAL PROCESS

Monitor 
and Review

RISK ASSESSMENT

Communicate 
and Consult

IDENTIFY

MEASURE

CONTROL

MITIGATE

Establish the Context

Treat the Risks

ST
RA

TE
G

IC
 P

RO
CE

SS

ST
RA

TE
G

IC
 P

RO
CE

SS

STRATEGIC PROCESS
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In the year under review, ESR identified 10 top risks 
that were deemed material to our ability to achieve our 
strategy and create value over time and developed a 
detailed mitigation plan to address these risks. (Read 
more about our strategy and about how we create 
value on pages 24 and 43, respectively.)

OUR RISK 
MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES

ACHIEVED 
THROUGH

 » Embed risk management into the 
culture of the organisation.

 » Manage risk in accordance with best 
practice.

 » Anticipate and respond to changing 
economic, social, environmental and 
legislative requirements.

 » Prevent injury, damage and losses and 
reduce the cost of risk.

 » Raise awareness of the importance of 
risk management among everyone 
involved in the delivery of our service.

 » The establishment of clear roles, 
responsibilities, and reporting lines 
for risk management within the 
organisation.

 » Providing opportunities for shared 
learning on risk management across 
the organisation.

 » Offering a framework for allocating 
resources to identified priority risk 
areas.

 » Training employees on the 
importance of effective risk 
management as part of their 
daily work.

 » Incorporating risk management into 
business planning.

 » Incorporating risk management into 
partnership arrangements, project 
and change management, and 
contracts.

 » Regular measurement, reporting and 
communication of risk management 
performance.

Risk management (continued)
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OUR TOP RISKS

Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

1 Project execution 
failure 

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC, HC, MC

Planned projects may 
not be executed within 
set timelines due to poor 
planning in the initiation 
stage, budget limitations 
or poorly-defined scope.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability

 » Loss of business 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Economic loss 
 » Capital cost 

impairment

 » Lack of project orientation within ESR 
 » Lack of funding 
 » Changes in political will 
 » Lack of capacity 
 » Lack of consequence management – 

laissez-faire 
 » Poor grasp of new strategy concept 
 » Delayed start of the strategy 
 » Absence of a project office
 » Projects not financially viable 
 » Leadership change (Board members) 
 » Project cost escalations 
 » Poor business case 
 » Lengthy approval process (Government 

bureaucracy)

 » Provide formal training on project management body of knowledge 
(PMBOK). 

 » Prepare bankable projects studies (business case/project viability). 
 » Develop a transparent project framework (PMBOK). 
 » Explore PPP agreement for funding as well as loan guarantee funding 

from PEU. 
 » Conduct comprehensive business cases/feasibility studies to support 

funding. 
 » Include consequence management on performance management 

systems. (Management by objectives). 
 » Compress project timelines (Project cost margin to be within 

acceptable tolerance of cost (+-10%)). 
 » Appoint and capacitate a projects officer for central coordination of 

projects.

2 Incorrect 
assumptions on 
business case

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC

A risk that project decisions 
taken will be based on 
incorrect assumptions 
which can have disastrous 
results.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Project cost over runs 
 » Loss of investment 

 » Project cost over runs 
 » Loss of investment 

 » Conduct a comprehensive market survey for identified projects. 
 » Ensure the continual updating of the costing model to inform the 

business case.

3 Poor integration 
of business 
management 
systems

Capitals affected: 
IC, HC

Information silos make it 
difficult to gain a complete 
picture of business 
performance, thus creating 
inefficiencies that slow 
down decision making 
and increase redundancies 
across the business.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Increased 
inefficiencies

 » High cost of 
redundancy

 » Financial loss
 » Poor decision making

 » Increased inefficiencies 
 » High cost of redundancy 
 » Financial loss 
 » Poor decision making 

 » Upgrade network links. 
 » Have a formal session to review the user specifications including 

benchmarking with other railways and develop solutions for business 
integration. 

 » Develop and implement a technological road map. 
 » Review and realign ICT strategy to overall strategy. 
 » Implement and report the ICT strategy through the ICT Steering 

Committee. 
 » Conduct training for ICT and ESR staff. 
 » Orientation of ESR employees on new systems. 
 » Identify, cost the systems for budgeting purposes. 
 » Phase out obsolete systems. 
 » Conduct extensive training on SharePoint and unpack its capabilities in 

line with user requirements. 

4 Unreliability of 
third party service 
providers 

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC

Service providers 
supporting ESR’s 
information technology 
requirements may not be 
available at the time of 
need.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Increased downtime 
 » Sub-standard work 
 » Increased response 

time 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Loss of business

 » Increased downtime 
 » Sub-standard work 
 » Increased response time 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Loss of business

 » Ensure signed SLAs are in place with third parties.
 » Leverage on the customer service charter and regulatory legislation 

(ESCCOM, ESERA).
 » Review the business case for setting up the internal communication 

network for feasibility.
 » Install internal communication network using the licence with 

regulator.

Risk management (continued)
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OUR TOP RISKS

Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

1 Project execution 
failure 

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC, HC, MC

Planned projects may 
not be executed within 
set timelines due to poor 
planning in the initiation 
stage, budget limitations 
or poorly-defined scope.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability

 » Loss of business 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Economic loss 
 » Capital cost 

impairment

 » Lack of project orientation within ESR 
 » Lack of funding 
 » Changes in political will 
 » Lack of capacity 
 » Lack of consequence management – 

laissez-faire 
 » Poor grasp of new strategy concept 
 » Delayed start of the strategy 
 » Absence of a project office
 » Projects not financially viable 
 » Leadership change (Board members) 
 » Project cost escalations 
 » Poor business case 
 » Lengthy approval process (Government 

bureaucracy)

 » Provide formal training on project management body of knowledge 
(PMBOK). 

 » Prepare bankable projects studies (business case/project viability). 
 » Develop a transparent project framework (PMBOK). 
 » Explore PPP agreement for funding as well as loan guarantee funding 

from PEU. 
 » Conduct comprehensive business cases/feasibility studies to support 

funding. 
 » Include consequence management on performance management 

systems. (Management by objectives). 
 » Compress project timelines (Project cost margin to be within 

acceptable tolerance of cost (+-10%)). 
 » Appoint and capacitate a projects officer for central coordination of 

projects.

2 Incorrect 
assumptions on 
business case

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC

A risk that project decisions 
taken will be based on 
incorrect assumptions 
which can have disastrous 
results.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Project cost over runs 
 » Loss of investment 

 » Project cost over runs 
 » Loss of investment 

 » Conduct a comprehensive market survey for identified projects. 
 » Ensure the continual updating of the costing model to inform the 

business case.

3 Poor integration 
of business 
management 
systems

Capitals affected: 
IC, HC

Information silos make it 
difficult to gain a complete 
picture of business 
performance, thus creating 
inefficiencies that slow 
down decision making 
and increase redundancies 
across the business.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Increased 
inefficiencies

 » High cost of 
redundancy

 » Financial loss
 » Poor decision making

 » Increased inefficiencies 
 » High cost of redundancy 
 » Financial loss 
 » Poor decision making 

 » Upgrade network links. 
 » Have a formal session to review the user specifications including 

benchmarking with other railways and develop solutions for business 
integration. 

 » Develop and implement a technological road map. 
 » Review and realign ICT strategy to overall strategy. 
 » Implement and report the ICT strategy through the ICT Steering 

Committee. 
 » Conduct training for ICT and ESR staff. 
 » Orientation of ESR employees on new systems. 
 » Identify, cost the systems for budgeting purposes. 
 » Phase out obsolete systems. 
 » Conduct extensive training on SharePoint and unpack its capabilities in 

line with user requirements. 

4 Unreliability of 
third party service 
providers 

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC

Service providers 
supporting ESR’s 
information technology 
requirements may not be 
available at the time of 
need.

Fully integrated processes to 
improve effectiveness and 
efficiency

 » Increased downtime 
 » Sub-standard work 
 » Increased response 

time 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Loss of business

 » Increased downtime 
 » Sub-standard work 
 » Increased response time 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Loss of business

 » Ensure signed SLAs are in place with third parties.
 » Leverage on the customer service charter and regulatory legislation 

(ESCCOM, ESERA).
 » Review the business case for setting up the internal communication 

network for feasibility.
 » Install internal communication network using the licence with 

regulator.
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OUR TOP RISKS (CONTINUED)

Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

5 Institutional 
reforms

Capitals affected: 
IC, HC, SC

As a parastatal, emerging 
institutional reforms may 
impact on the existence, 
structure and approach of 
doing business thus failing 
to take advantage of free 
market competition.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation

 » Exposure to free 
market competition

 » Exposure to free market competition  » Operational readiness for the changes. 
 » Develop and implement strong financial performance foundations. 
 » Review and market the strategy through transformation workshops 

within ESR. 

6 Failure to meet 
needs and 
expectations of 
stakeholders

Capitals affected: 
FC, SC

Projects can be delayed 
or halted by unsatisfied 
stakeholders.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation

 » Reputational damage 
 » Litigations 
 » Unreliable service 
 » Loss of business

 » Reputational damage 
 » Litigations 
 » Unreliable service 
 » Loss of business

 » Review internal policies and align them to the relevant situations, time 
and environment. 

 » Conduct compliance audits to our policies and regulations. 
 » Periodically share detailed information transparently with bargaining 

units. 
 » Extensively implement the stakeholder management strategy using 

available internal resources.

7 Inability to meet 
strategic objectives

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC, HC

A risk that ESR would 
not achieve set strategic 
objectives/desired results 
or fall below acceptable 
strategy performance levels.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability

 » Loss of business 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Strategy failure 
 » Wastage of funds 

already spent
 » Reputation damage 
 » Lack of confidence 

by ESR employees 
remains stagnant 

 » Lack of stakeholder 
support 

 » Industrial unrest 
 » Loss of competitive 

advantage
 » Compromised track 

quality 
 » Unsustainability of 

organisation 
 » Inflexibility in 

meeting customer 
demands 

 » Increased cost of 
doing business

 » Loss of market share 

 » Ongoing restrictions of COVID-19 
 » Inadequate system and hardware to 

support work from home 
 » Customer demands lower rates 
 » Skills haemorrhage 
 » Lack of aggressive marketing 
 » Changes in sources of supply by clients 
 » Current BCP is not a reflection of all 

organisational operations 
 » Internal capacity and capabilities 

(Telecommunication and HR policies) 
 » Changes in country priorities – 

(Government suspension of projects) 
 » Delayed conclusion of projects 
 » Cost structure not aligned to business 

 » Implement the stakeholder engagement strategy. 
 » Put in place SLA for all ESR clients. In special cases for TFR customers, 

develop a tripartite addendum (ESR, client, TFR). 
 » Implement an aggressive marketing plan locally and regionally. 
 » Fast track and implement the outcomes of the organisational review to 

address issues of capacity and capabilities. 
 » Develop DRPs for outstanding departments and align them to the 

Organisational BCP to cater for all operations. 
 » Workshop the BCP to all stakeholders. 
 » EXCO to provide the necessary resources (Data to support working 

from home). 
 » ICTM to provide adequate resources to support working from home 

(Hardware, software). 
 » ESR to remain vigilant on the prevailing Government legislations. 
 » Develop, implement and provide formal training on PMBOK framework.

Risk management (continued)
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Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

5 Institutional 
reforms

Capitals affected: 
IC, HC, SC

As a parastatal, emerging 
institutional reforms may 
impact on the existence, 
structure and approach of 
doing business thus failing 
to take advantage of free 
market competition.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation

 » Exposure to free 
market competition

 » Exposure to free market competition  » Operational readiness for the changes. 
 » Develop and implement strong financial performance foundations. 
 » Review and market the strategy through transformation workshops 

within ESR. 

6 Failure to meet 
needs and 
expectations of 
stakeholders

Capitals affected: 
FC, SC

Projects can be delayed 
or halted by unsatisfied 
stakeholders.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation

 » Reputational damage 
 » Litigations 
 » Unreliable service 
 » Loss of business

 » Reputational damage 
 » Litigations 
 » Unreliable service 
 » Loss of business

 » Review internal policies and align them to the relevant situations, time 
and environment. 

 » Conduct compliance audits to our policies and regulations. 
 » Periodically share detailed information transparently with bargaining 

units. 
 » Extensively implement the stakeholder management strategy using 

available internal resources.

7 Inability to meet 
strategic objectives

Capitals affected: 
FC, IC, SC, HC

A risk that ESR would 
not achieve set strategic 
objectives/desired results 
or fall below acceptable 
strategy performance levels.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability

 » Loss of business 
 » Loss of revenue 
 » Strategy failure 
 » Wastage of funds 

already spent
 » Reputation damage 
 » Lack of confidence 

by ESR employees 
remains stagnant 

 » Lack of stakeholder 
support 

 » Industrial unrest 
 » Loss of competitive 

advantage
 » Compromised track 

quality 
 » Unsustainability of 

organisation 
 » Inflexibility in 

meeting customer 
demands 

 » Increased cost of 
doing business

 » Loss of market share 

 » Ongoing restrictions of COVID-19 
 » Inadequate system and hardware to 

support work from home 
 » Customer demands lower rates 
 » Skills haemorrhage 
 » Lack of aggressive marketing 
 » Changes in sources of supply by clients 
 » Current BCP is not a reflection of all 

organisational operations 
 » Internal capacity and capabilities 

(Telecommunication and HR policies) 
 » Changes in country priorities – 

(Government suspension of projects) 
 » Delayed conclusion of projects 
 » Cost structure not aligned to business 

 » Implement the stakeholder engagement strategy. 
 » Put in place SLA for all ESR clients. In special cases for TFR customers, 

develop a tripartite addendum (ESR, client, TFR). 
 » Implement an aggressive marketing plan locally and regionally. 
 » Fast track and implement the outcomes of the organisational review to 

address issues of capacity and capabilities. 
 » Develop DRPs for outstanding departments and align them to the 

Organisational BCP to cater for all operations. 
 » Workshop the BCP to all stakeholders. 
 » EXCO to provide the necessary resources (Data to support working 

from home). 
 » ICTM to provide adequate resources to support working from home 

(Hardware, software). 
 » ESR to remain vigilant on the prevailing Government legislations. 
 » Develop, implement and provide formal training on PMBOK framework.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Risk management
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Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

8 Shrinking volumes 
on imports and 
exports

Capitals affected: 
FC

A risk that Eswatini Railways’ 
market share on imports 
and exports will shrink as a 
result of legislation changes 
from Government.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability.

 » Loss of market share 
and volume 

 » Loss of revenue 

 » Changes in Government regulations 
affecting clients (eg fuel and wheat) 

 » Fast track the implementation of the diversification projects to cushion 
revenue loss. 

 » ESR to remain actively involved in developments that are happening 
domestically, regionally and globally. 

 » ESR to remain vigilant on the prevailing Government legislations. 
 » Continuous lobbying of Government on new legislative developments 

to ensure ESR remains competitive. 
 » Continuous engagement of stakeholders through stakeholder 

management strategy. 
 » Legal to create awareness on new legislations that have an impact on 

ESR business. 
 » Actively participate on local and regional strategic business forums. 
 » Adequately provide funding of the marketing plan.

9 Loss of certification 
license

Capitals affected: 
FC

ESR may lose ISO 
certification license as a 
result of not addressing 
non-conformities timeously.

Mitigate risk due to 
dependency on a single 
revenue stream. 

 » Loss of business 
 » Compromised 

quality of service
 » Derailments 
 » Reputational damage

 » Delayed closing of non-compliance from 
external audits (Rheinland Inspection 
Services (TUV), Railway Safety Regulator 
(RSR)

 » Timely attend to outcomes of external audits.
 » Put in place a system of escalation of issues. 
 » Include all SHEQ performance on the balanced scorecards. 

10 Change 
management

Capitals affected: 
SC, HC

New systems and 
procedures may meet 
with resistance thus not 
contributing to the strategic 
direction of ESR.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation.

 » Haphazard 
implementation of 
processes 

 » Outpaced by 
competitors 

 » Irrelevant to 
prevailing to business 
requirements 

 » Increased wastage 
and increased cost 

 » High level of resistance 
 » Lack of understanding by employee 
 » Lack of innovative ways to respond to 

COVID-19 
 » Inadequate marketing of proposed 

change 
 » Lack of a change management model 

 » Put in place a formal change management model/structure. 
 » Implement the stakeholder engagement strategy. 
 » Provide training and create awareness on the change management 

model. 

Risk management (continued)
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Risk Description Strategic objective Impact Consequences Mitigation

8 Shrinking volumes 
on imports and 
exports

Capitals affected: 
FC

A risk that Eswatini Railways’ 
market share on imports 
and exports will shrink as a 
result of legislation changes 
from Government.

Reduce reliance on transit 
revenue and explore other 
sources of revenue to increase 
financial stability.

 » Loss of market share 
and volume 

 » Loss of revenue 

 » Changes in Government regulations 
affecting clients (eg fuel and wheat) 

 » Fast track the implementation of the diversification projects to cushion 
revenue loss. 

 » ESR to remain actively involved in developments that are happening 
domestically, regionally and globally. 

 » ESR to remain vigilant on the prevailing Government legislations. 
 » Continuous lobbying of Government on new legislative developments 

to ensure ESR remains competitive. 
 » Continuous engagement of stakeholders through stakeholder 

management strategy. 
 » Legal to create awareness on new legislations that have an impact on 

ESR business. 
 » Actively participate on local and regional strategic business forums. 
 » Adequately provide funding of the marketing plan.

9 Loss of certification 
license

Capitals affected: 
FC

ESR may lose ISO 
certification license as a 
result of not addressing 
non-conformities timeously.

Mitigate risk due to 
dependency on a single 
revenue stream. 

 » Loss of business 
 » Compromised 

quality of service
 » Derailments 
 » Reputational damage

 » Delayed closing of non-compliance from 
external audits (Rheinland Inspection 
Services (TUV), Railway Safety Regulator 
(RSR)

 » Timely attend to outcomes of external audits.
 » Put in place a system of escalation of issues. 
 » Include all SHEQ performance on the balanced scorecards. 

10 Change 
management

Capitals affected: 
SC, HC

New systems and 
procedures may meet 
with resistance thus not 
contributing to the strategic 
direction of ESR.

Harmonious relationships 
that foster a sustainable high 
performing and productive 
organisation.

 » Haphazard 
implementation of 
processes 

 » Outpaced by 
competitors 

 » Irrelevant to 
prevailing to business 
requirements 

 » Increased wastage 
and increased cost 

 » High level of resistance 
 » Lack of understanding by employee 
 » Lack of innovative ways to respond to 

COVID-19 
 » Inadequate marketing of proposed 

change 
 » Lack of a change management model 

 » Put in place a formal change management model/structure. 
 » Implement the stakeholder engagement strategy. 
 » Provide training and create awareness on the change management 

model. 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Risk management
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Revenue generation/ 
growth

Cost containment and 
building rail efficiencies

Continuous stakeholder 
engagement

Information, 
communication and 
technology

OUR  
PRIORITIES

EMERGING RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Emerging risks

1. Threat to cash flow 
 Over the past two years, reduced cash flow due to poorly 

performing revenue from transit revenue, imports and 
exports has compelled ESR to draw on reserves. 

2. Shifting country priorities 
 Due to COVID-19 and other issues, government-

funded rail projects may not be a priority. 

3. Increasing costs of doing business 
 The rising price of fuel and imported components 

have put fixed costs under pressure.

4. Cost of borrowings and interest
 The upward trend in finance costs and interest rates 

means that servicing of loans is not easy.

5. Outsourced track maintenance
 Our track maintenance is currently outsourced to 

IPAC/Imphumelelo Permanent Way. Over the years the 
company has lost critical technical staff who were not 
replaced, and two of the last three key staff will exit 
the organisation in September 2022 and March 2023, 
respectively. The remaining employee has less than six 
years of track experience. ESR has therefore prioritised 
in-sourcing of this service to ensure standards are not 
compromised. We cannot afford to risk derailments 
and the possible revocation of our RSR licence if 
confidence in our rail network is lost. 

Emerging opportunities

1. Purchase of port space in Maputo
 ESR should consider procuring port space to store 

commodities originating from Eswatini while awaiting 
shipment. One such example is iron ore that has not 
yet been hauled due to a lack of port space.

2. Train slots available at TFR
 ESR needs to purchase train slots from Transnet to 

access TFR lines for hauling consignments from South 
Africa to the ports of Richards Bay, Matola or Maputo. 
TFR has already started to apply this model on their 
central line.

3. Increased truck traffic on the Komatipoort-Maputo 
route

 ESR may explore additional sidings and other business 
options.

4. Improved turnaround time of wagons for loading
 The turnaround time of wagons from Richards Bay to 

Eswatini, and from Eswatini to Komatipoort is poor. 
Improved turnaround times will enable us to haul in 
more volumes and ultimately improve revenue. 

5. Infrastructure readiness for new business
 Improved infrastructure means the ESRL will 

accommodate axle loads of up 26 tonnes to allow 
hauling of longer trains used by Transnet, as well as 
heavy haul locomotives. The Mlawula-Goba route will 
increase from a 40-wagon (18t/axle) track and attract 
longer trains.

Organisation-wide risk mitigation implementation rate

12% In progress

7% Not started

81% Closed

Following the 
analysis of 

our risks and 
material matters, 

ESR identified 
four priorities 

that will enable 
us to achieve  

our vision. 

Risk management (continued)
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Unacceptable 10 C B A A A

Major 8 C B B A A

Moderate 6 D C B B A

Minor 4 D C C B B

Insignificant 2 D D D C C

CONSEQUENCE

2 4 6 8 10

Rare Unlikely Possible Likely
Almost 
Certain

LIKELIHOOD

Table 5: Risk Ranking Matrix

RISK HEAT MAP

RISK PROFILE

Unacceptable 10

Major 8

Moderate 6

Minor 4

Insignificant 2

Rare Unlikely Possible Likely
Almost 
Certain

PROBABILITY

7

36

54

2

10
9

1

8

7

Pre-assessment Post-assessment No Movement 

1 6
954

2 3
8

10

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Risk management

IM
PA

CT



ESWATINI RAILWAYS INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2244

Our 
performance 
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ESR failed to meet its revenue targets this year and the  
E14.9  million saving on expenditure was not enough to 
compensate for the loss in revenue. The organisation recorded  
a total loss of E12 million (2021: E0.7 million).

Our performance 44

Performance at a glance 2021/22 46

Performance against strategy 47
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Our performance

PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE 2021/22

31 March
 2022 

Audited 
E’000

31 March 
2021 

Audited 
E’000

REVENUE

Transit 203 515 200 389
Imports 23 080 38 011
Exports 20 679 25 974
Other income 18 877 17 086
Total revenue 266 152 281 460
EXPENDITURE
Operational and admin expenses 142 894 122 287
Employee costs 131 948 130 525
Operating profit (7 267) 28 647
Finance income 17 023 14 678
Finance costs 25 933 37 126
Net finance costs (8 909) (22 448)
Net income before tax (16 176) 6 200

31 March
 2022 

Audited 
E’000

31 March 
2021 

Audited 
E’000

Total costs 299 351 289 938
Employee costs 131 948 135 525
Employee cost to expenses 44% 45%
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGY 

Notwithstanding a difficult operating environment, ESR 
continued to deliver its strategic objectives set out in the 
Blue Ocean Strategy, although a number of projects could 
not be completed by the end of the period and were 
deferred to the next strategic plan.

Overall, we made reasonable progress during the year, 
completing 70% of our strategic projects. (Read more 
about our projects on page 48.)

Poor traffic volumes 

Volumes were 18.9% less than expected, with ESR moving 
just 6 080 million tonnes compared to a budgeted 
7 495 million tonnes. These poor traffic volumes are 
attributed to several factors including heavy rains which 
resulted in wet cargo, cable theft on TFR lines, shortages 
of and faulty telemeters, insufficient rolling stock and 
flooding in KwaZulu-Natal. 

The year ended on a positive note, however, due to the 
resurgence of commodity prices, and coal in particular. 

Actual  
performance 

2021/22
Tonnes ’000

Actual 
performance 

2020/21
Tonnes ’000

Transit traffic 5 648 6 008
Exports 315 201
Imports 122 189
Total volumes 6 085 6 398

Shortfall in revenue 

Revenue of E315.8 million from freight and E20.5 million 
from non-core business was projected for the financial 
year, however, performance fell short of the mark, with 
transit revenue underperforming significantly against 
target. Total freight revenue declined by E17.1 million, a 6% 
drop from the prior year, and was 22% below target.

*Other income excluding E7 546 million finance income

Projected 
revenue 

2022
E’000

Actual 
E’000

Freight 315 813 247 275
Non-core 
business* 20 498 18 877

* Other income excluding E7 546 million finance income

Transit revenue improved by 2% compared with last year, 
but underperformed by 17% (E40.3 million) against a 
target of E243.8 million. Transit revenue accounts for 82% 
of total revenue and 93% of the volumes transported.

Decline in import revenue 

Revenue from imports such as cars, fuel, cement and 
containers fell by 39%, largely due to legislative changes 
regarding the importation of second-hand vehicles and 
restricted trading with non-SACU countries. Floods in 
KwaZulu-Natal also contributed to this situation, and 
slow train services prompted customers to opt for road 
transport. 

Exports impacted by floods

Exports consist mainly of bulk sugar, timber and 
containerised cargo and here too performance declined by 
close on 20% [E164 944]. Poor train services and flooding 
at the Durban port were once again the culprits. 

Total revenue (E million) Total expenditure (E million)

236,4
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Financial performance – 8 years

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Our performance



ESWATINI RAILWAYS INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2248

Profitability

Poor revenues naturally mirrored our operating margin 
of -7% (as opposed to the 14% budgeted) and return on 
capital employed (-2%). 

Downswing in debt/liquidity ratios

Two ratios reflect a company’s ability to honour its debt 
obligations: the debt service coverage (DSCR) ratio and 
the interest coverage (ICR) ratio. Both saw a downswing 
during the year and ESR may well find it difficult to honour 
its debt if we do not restructure our debt and optimise our 
cashflow. With this in mind, strategic initiatives to diversify 
income streams to improve revenue are being explored 
aggressively. 

Progress on leasing 

Several companies had shown interest in leasing our 
rolling stock of four locomotives and 75 wagons. While 
the wagons have since been deployed to transport coal 
to Sidvokodvo, the locomotives are still available and are 
being utilised from local traffic. 

Once it gets the green light, 
the ESRL will clear the way for 

the unimpeded movement 
of rolling stock between 

South Africa and Eswatini, 
contributing to an African 

free-trade zone
The joint inter-railway venture with Transnet Freight Rail 
(TFR), will build a new 150-kilometre-long railway line 
from Lothair (South Africa) to Sidvokodvo (Eswatini) via 
the Goba corridor to create a dedicated general freight 
business (GFB).

The ESRL will reduce congestion on the coal export link 
between Mpumalanga and Richards Bay by shifting 
6.7 million tonnes of freight to the Goba corridor annually. 
The line will accommodate an axle load of up to 26 tonnes. 

Coal, chrome and Conco* business prospects in the 
pipeline will also be transported via the vastly underutilised 
Goba corridor, which moves just 400 000 tonnes of its  
4.5 million tonne capacity. The line is expected to triple 
cross-border goods transport by rail in 2023. 

Although we envisage significant new revenue, the ESRL 
is reliant on Government funding of over E21 billion. 
Thus far Government has provided E230 million needed 
to resettle the 235 affected homesteads along the track. 
Land acquisition for resettlement purposes is also being 
undertaken and stakeholder engagement with affected 
people is ongoing. 

* Coca-Cola Swaziland (Conco) produces and distributes soft drink 
concentrates throughout Africa.

Eswatini 
Rail  
Link 
(ERL)

Sidings Inland 
Container 
Depot 
(ICD) 
Expansion

STRATEGIC 
PROJECTS

Our performance (continued)

Eswatini Rail Link
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Eswatini Rail Link route
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Detailed map of Eswatini Railway routes

Maputo

Richards Bay

Durban

CFM
Komatipoort

Musina

Phalaborwa

Mpumalanga 
Coal Fields

Proposed 
Link

Springbok Flats 
Coal Fields

Limpopo 
Coal Fields

Waterberg 
Coal Fields

Proposed 
Heavy 
Haul Line

Lothair

Vryheid

Ermelo

Glencoe

Ogies
Lothair

Pyramid
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Lephalale

Botswana Rail Network

Our performance (continued)

Waterberg Lines

Coal Backbone

Coal Export Link

Swazi Link

Limpopo Coal and Mineral Feeders

Natcor North Heavy Haul Line

North Coast Line La

New rail link
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ERL benefits 

 » Provides a rail solution linking to the economic hub of 
Gauteng province in South Africa.

 » Will stimulate economic development, boost 
profitability and create employment for Emaswati.

 » Positions Eswatini as a point for other countries to 
access the sea.

 » Reduces congestion at Eswatini’s Ngwenya border post 
due to imports from South Africa. 

 » Streamlines border controls between Eswatini, 
South Africa and Mozambique by doing away 
with the mandatory stop at Goba, bringing about 
the unimpeded movement of rolling stock and 
contributing to an African free-trade zone.

 » ESR will benefit immensely from building capacity 
ahead of demand, in much the same way that 
Transnet has done. We anticipate gains in operational 
efficiencies, carbon emission credits and the  
much-desired benefits of regional integration. 

Inland container depot expansion

Matsapha Inland Container Depot (Dry Port)

The 26 335m2 Matsapha ICD 
is Eswatini’s containerised 
cargo-handling terminal, 

providing a range of import 
and export services to traders 
within the industrial hub and 

to the country at large. 
The ICD currently tracks containers, provides customs 
clearance facilities, and forwarding and clearing services. 
The depot also has a rail siding through which container 
trains are received, dispatched and handled. However, 
the Dry Port is unable to handle the volume of incoming 
imports and exports; customers are experiencing delays 
due to inadequate stacking and storage facilities and slow 
clearance processes, losing ESR business. 

The lack of systems integration of the Dry Port is a further 
challenge since it serves as a transfer point between 
different modes of transport and is an important means of 
integrating inland and marine transport networks.

The terminal has now all but reached capacity and must 
be expanded if it is to continue to deliver on its pivotal role 
in regional trade, ensuring quick turnaround times, ease of 
doing business, and the economical and safe movement of 
goods through the terminal.

The ICD has been in operation since 1994, with minor 
expansion taking place in 2000. Turnover of containerised 
cargo has since climbed to more than 16 000 units a year, 
with growth ranging between 10% and 15%. 

Design of port buildings approved

A connection with a port terminal through rail services 
already exists, with Matsapha linking up with the Durban 
and Richards Bay harbours in South Africa and Maputo 
harbour in Mozambique. Some basic logistics activities that 
support and organise the freight transited are also in place 
near or at the intermodal terminal, but our intention is to 
significantly expand these activities inside the terminal.

Stage 2 architectural designs for the port buildings have 
been finalised and submitted, although limited funds 
required the fencing scope to be divided into three phases. 

Excessive ground water in the area had to be diverted 
before foundations could be laid, causing delays, but the 
Phase 1 installation of ClearVu fencing, which essentially 
covered the existing ICD area, including the entry and exit 
gate, was completed at the end of April 2022. 

Ground water fills foundation trench
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The Dry Port plays a major 
role in enhancing the flow and 

movement of goods from the 
hinterland to the nearest sea 
ports, increasing the volume 

of freight and improving 
freight service logistics. It is 

expected to stimulate the 
Eswatini economy as well as 

the adjacent regional area 
serviced by the Matsapha ICD.

New ICD commissioned at Mpaka 

Commissioning of a second 
ICD at Mpaka Railway Station 

to support Matsapha will 
start in the new financial year. 

The Mpaka ICD will serve 
emerging markets in the 

eastern region of the country 
and will reduce the distance 

that cargo is ferried by road to 
the Matsapha facility before 

being loaded on trains.
Mpaka is strategically located to serve the lowveld 
economy of Eswatini, as well as provide a direct link to 
Durban, Maputo and north into southern Africa. The 
ICD will service the Lubombo region where agricultural 
products such as fertiliser, the export of bagged sugar by 
the Eswatini Sugar Association (ESA), ethanol from Royal 
Eswatini Sugar (RES) Corporation and USA Distillers come 
through via rail. 

Being a landlocked country, Eswatini is heavily reliant on 
primary materials for its export volumes. Phase I of the 
Mpaka ICD is being fenced off and land cleared, with the 
foundations and a slab to follow, including the Perway 
area.

Once complete, together with Matsapha, it will improve 
cargo processing, facilitate the collection and distribution 
of local, regional and international cargo and ultimately 
integrate Eswatini and the SADC region with the ports of 
Durban and Maputo. 

Traffic and logistics

Road and rail are both suited to transport relatively small 
loads over short to moderate distances. The same applies 
to rail and sea transport and, to a lesser extent, to road 
and sea. While there is little reason to take freight from a 
vessel or rail wagon and fly it onwards, road definitely acts 
as feeder service for air and is an important intermodal 
interface to consider.

ClearVu fencing installation at the Matsapha ICD

Our performance (continued)
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Eswatini is well-connected with both road and rail 
transport from Durban, Maputo and Gauteng, and this will 
only improve once the ESRL is complete. 

Air cargo network and services

King Mswati III International Airport, also known as 
Sikhuphe, is Eswatini’s main international airport, located 
about 14km from the Mpaka ICD. Air cargo is expected to 
feed into the ICDs for transportation by rail and road.

The area around the airport has been declared a special 
economic zone (SEZ) and is expected to attract new 
investment through the development of major office 
complexes, hi-tech industries, hotels, exhibition centres, 
medical facilities, entertainment and major retail chain 
stores around the airport. Sikhuphe is slated to become 
a business destination in its own right. 

The SEZ has been established to support the airport, which 
will act as the logistics hub for Eswatini. Together with the 
Mpaka ICD it will generate and attract freight and enable 
total logistics solutions for clients. 

Coal project delivers intermodal solution

The coal project kicked off in October 2021 to provide an 
intermodal solution for customers that move rail-friendly 
goods from road to rail. Coal is transported by truck across 
the Ngwenya border post to Matsapha and Sidvokodvo 
where it is offloaded before being transferred to a train that 
moves it from Matsapha on to Mozambique.

Following a successful trial phase, the project is now 
scheduled to become fully operational, with approximately 
150 trucks expected to ferry up to 260 000 tonnes per 
month by the end of March 2023. 

Benefits of the intermodal solution

 » Helps to reduce current, relatively high logistics costs.

 » Benefits the rail logistics value chain by promoting local 
economic development. 

 » Will assist the country to improve the standard of living 
of its citizens.

 » Generates revenue for ESR which, in turn translates to 
government revenue in the form of income tax and 
dividends.

 » Reduces unemployment through the stimulation of 
secondary industries.

 » Boosts the economy through taxes paid on salaries 
and wages.

 » Employs around 40 operational employees and a large 
number of truck drivers. 

Challenges

 » Congestion at Ngwenya Border post.

 » Possible road damage in the long term.

The advantages of the coal project clearly outweigh 
the challenges and we are in the process of engaging 
with stakeholders on the benefits of the project for 
the economy. 
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Our business 
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Our business 54

Engineering 56

Operations, Commercial and Marketing 58

Human Resources and Development 62

Safety, health, environment and quality (SHEQ) 67

Despite sluggish economic performance and our dependence 
on SACU receipts and quotas, we are confident of a wealth of 
opportunities waiting to be unlocked in both Africa and Eswatini 
with the reopening of local mines and associated opportunities.
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ENGINEERING

The Engineering Department is responsible for the design, 
procurement and maintenance of ESR infrastructure 
and equipment. This encompasses both civil (the track, 
buildings, bridges); mechanical (rolling stock, traction, 
locomotives); signals and telecommunications 
infrastructure and yellow plant. Uptime and reliability 
of these assets are paramount to the operations of the 
business and the department recorded infrastructure and 
equipment availability rates of 98% on average (2021: 96%). 

Major events in the year

Derailment at Siweni

A fuel train derailed at Siweni due to a suspected rockfall 
one kilometre from the Mozambique border following 
cyclone Eloise. This caused serious damage to the fuel 
wagons and rail track, and resulted in spillage into the 
Mbuluzi River which affected potable water in the Goba 
community. 

Environmental specialists were contracted to contain 
and treat the contamination in accordance with the 
Environmental Management Act. 

Discussions between ESR and CFM to resolve the liabilities 
that emanated from the derailment are ongoing, and there 
has been no progress to date on this matter.

Restructuring the Carriage and Wagon Section

The introduction of the coal business between Sidvokodvo 
and Maputo required increased output from the 
Sidvokodvo Carriage and Wagon Section workshop and 
the section switched from day shifts to running three shifts 
to provide a 24/7 maintenance service to support the 
operations. 

Visual display track system commissioned 

The visual display unit track warrant system (VDUTWS) is a 
computer-based application that provides both static and 
dynamic views of the trains. The system is used to control 
train and shunting movements in the ESR-controlled 
territory from Komatipoort to Golela and from Matsapha 
to Goba. It was installed and technically commissioned in 
November 2021 after extensive training of both technical 
and operational staff. 

The VDUTWS is integrated with other business systems 
used by ESR and TFR such as the train movement system 
(TMS) used to manage the integrated train plan (ITP). 
It produces train movement reports at the press of a 
button and ensures the seamless transfer of train driver 
information between adjacent systems of train control.
The project formed part of the ESR systems integration 
programme. 

Over the next two years, we will integrate the VDUTWS 
into the on-board computer (OBC) system to prevent 
locomotives from speeding, curtail unauthorised 
movements beyond the limits of authority and enable 
the train control officer (TCO) to monitor and track train 
movements in real time, using the GPS signals from trains 
in the rail network. 

Our business
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All train drivers, train assistants, train control officers, 
inspectors, trolley drivers, and the service recovery team 
including the CFM train drivers and technical teams have 
been trained and certified competent by the TFR School 
of Rail. 

Training

ESR is a unique business that requires particular skills and 
experience and is critical to ensure that staff are up to 
speed as locomotive technology or air breaking systems 
and other engineering fields evolve or become more 
sophisticated. Specialised training is conducted in line with 
a training and development agreement with the School of 
Rail in South Africa.

We engaged with Human Resources to explore how best 
to structure and capacitate the Engineering Department to 
improve efficiencies and service. This process will also assist 
with succession planning for our 52 employees. 

Maintenance

Preventative maintenance is 
integral to the engineering 

function, and assets and 
equipment are rehabilitated 

regularly, including the 
integrated corridor shutdown.
Infrastructure degrades exponentially if you do not keep 
a close eye on things. However, lower traffic volumes 
and reduced revenue constrained finances available for 
proactive maintenance, forcing the business to switch to a 
reactive mode. 

The ESR 10-day track maintenance shutdown, which 
usually takes place each June, was successfully concluded 
in August with no incidents recorded. This planned 
programme is diligently done to maintain the track quality 
index agreed on with Transnet as a standard measure 
in the SADC region. Minor repairs were carried out in 
between trains at an average rate of 1km per day.

The future 

The department is exploring the use of drone and other 
tracking technology, to monitor everything from lines to 
equipment, to replace manual inspections. This will require 
extensive data analytics capability that we do not yet have, 
but the opportunity to utilise this insight for business 
intelligence is vast as we embrace the fourth industrial 
revolution 4IR and AI.

Budget is a key factor that will impact the future performance 
of the department. However, as long as there is sufficient 
traffic through the Goba corridor, we will have the funds to 
train staff and purchase equipment. 
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OPERATIONS, COMMERCIAL AND 
MARKETING

ESR’s Operations and 
Marketing Department is 
mandated to secure cross 

border and transit customers 
by developing and nurturing 

business relationships and 
strategic partnerships with 

relevant stakeholders.
The department works with the contiguous railway 
administrations in line with the Train Working Regulations 
and the Integrated Train Plan (ITP) guidelines to plan and 
ensure the safe running of trains. It is the custodian for 
freight rates, ensuring that the company’s costing model 
is adhered to. Market research and business development 
also fall within the department’s responsibilities.

Our performance at a glance

Import and export tonnages

2021/22 Imports and exports tonnages
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Import and export tonnages

TRAFFIC SOURCE Budget % Change Actual

Bulk exports 150 000 88 282 682
Bulk imports 160 000 (43) 91 628
ICD 105 000 (41) 62 144
Transit 7 080 000 (20) 5 648 187
Total 7 495 000 (19) 6 084 641

Revenue performance against budget

Annual summary 2021/22 (April 2021- March 2022)

TRAFFIC SOURCE Budget % Change Actual

Bulk exports 17 309 760 68 29 138 847
Bulk imports 26 007 724 (43) 14 879 613
ICD 28 700 137 (55) 12 893 544
Transit 243 794 588 (23) 187 974 323
Passenger (Tourist) – 100 267 121
Total 315 812 209 (22) 245 153 448

INTEGRATED  ANNUAL REPORT // Our business
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Operating performance

Bulk exports 

Unanticipated timber railage to Richards Bay and the 
transport of coal from Sidvokodvo to Maputo delivered 
bulk export revenue of E16 259 501, a pleasing increase 
from the previous year’s export revenue of E25 975 million.

Due to additional wagons of timber by Transnet, we have 
three sets of 45 wagons for the timber project. Although 
mud at the loading siding is a challenge, we are confident 
that once the concrete paving has been constructed, we 
will see even greater timber volumes on rail. 

Bulk imports 

Unfortunately, bulk imports ended the year well below 
budget by E11 128 111 or 43% (2021: E21 757 659). This 
shortfall is attributed to the stoppage of cement imported 
by Afrisam and fuel quotas that still affect Galp Energia. 
Engen also halved their fuel order.

ICD 

Revenue earned and tonnes railed both performed below 
par during the year. A total of 62 144 tonnes were railed 
by the ICD (2021: 88 630 tonnes) while revenue stood at 
E12 893 544 (2021: E23 202 717). This translates to 41% 
and 55% below budget, respectively. 

This decline from the previous year was largely due to 
legislative changes that prohibited the import of grey 
vehicles. At the same time, inefficient export train services 
prompted clients to move their containers via road to 
meet stacks in Durban. 

Transit traffic 

Revenue attributed to transit traffic fared just as poorly as 
our other traffic types and was E188.0 million or 23% under 
budget, compared to E200.4 million the previous year. 

Our transit traffic volumes were dampened by heavy 
rains that delayed offloading as the wet cargo caused the 
tipplers to jam. Vermiculite ore will no longer be moving 
on our lines, which explains the 87% shortfall on budget 
performance. 

TFR introduced a back of port system (BoP) during the 
year to eliminate issues with the broken tipplers and wet 
cargo, which will rather be offloaded on dry land to meet 
demand.

Performance of transit traffic

Tonnage budget vs actual

Transit tonnage – 2021/22
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Commodity performance on transit traffic

Rock phosphate 5%

Magnetite 25%

Southbound containers 41%

Northbound containers 31%

Copper concentrate 75%

Fertiliser 100%

General goods 512%

Sulphur 100%

Management of overtime

Overtime costs increased by 2.7% compared to the 
previous year, while traffic volumes decreased by 4.9% due 
to internal inefficiencies. 

Overtime payment – 2020/21 vs 2021/22
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HIGHLIGHTS

CHALLENGES

Increased volumes of coal and timber.

New business in the transportation of coal 
from Matsapha to Maputo.

Implementation of a back of port system 
(BoP) in Richards Bay.

Injection of additional timber wagons.

Acquisition of a shunting locomotive in 
Sidvokodvo.

A growing number of customers are choosing 
to use the road to rail system to transport coal.

A derailment between Empangeni and Golela 
in the fourth quarter.

The cancellation of trains due to Richards Bay 
drivers who wanted air conditioners in their 
locomotives.

Congestion in Richards Bay due to wet cargo.

TFR customers opting to use Maputo port 
rather than Richards Bay.

Slippery sidings resulted in slow offloading 
and loading.

Highlights and challenges
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Outlook

Outlook for the First Quarter (April, May, June 2022/23)

HUMAN RESOURCES AND DEVELOPMENT

Human Resources forms 
part of our human, social 
and relationship capitals. 
Its primary mandate is to 

stabilise employee relations 
and lay the groundwork 

to support ESR’s vision of 
becoming a sustainable, 

high-performance transport 
logistics organisation.

The department’s vision is to create a culture that enables 
organisational growth through people and maintain a 
healthy culture of high performance. Over the past two 
years we have concentrated on putting the basics in place, 
with performance management at the top of the agenda. 
The balanced scorecard (BSC) framework was adopted to 
translate strategy into action.

TRAFFIC TYPE
Budget 

Tonnage

Budget
Revenue

E

Imports 27 588 4 509 434
Exports 252 072 25 184 857
ICD 20 740 4 098 802
Passenger – 201 436
Transit 1 381 074 46 065 231

1 681 474 80 059 760

Our business (continued)
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Focus areas and interventions

The six Human Resource focus areas

Increasing 
productivity

Talent 
development

Building a high 
performance 
culture

Effective 
leadership 
capacity

Effective 
organisational 
structure

Performance 
management

Underpinned by nine interventions

Develop and 
implement 
employee 
relations 
programme

Develop and 
implement talent 
development 
programme

Implement 
Sisonkhe team 
development 
programme

Implement 
Leading for 
Excellence 
(LeadExcel) 
programme

Implement 
structure 
changes based 
on organisation 
review

Advance 
performance 
management

Develop and 
implement 
integrated 
wellness 
programme

Conduct culture 
and engagement 
survey

Implement 
Exco team 
development 
programme

Develop and 
implement 
employee 
relations 
programme

Develop and 
implement 
integrated 
wellness 
programme

Increasing productivity

ESR has suffered a number of wildcat strikes, the most 
recent lasting eight working days in December 2021. 
This industrial action naturally affects the business and 
undermines the high performance culture we are trying 
to inculcate and we are working hard to engage regularly 
with the unions to manage and build relationships, and to 
avoid situations that impact productivity. 

Talent development

A succession and talent development policy is in place and 
we are now focused on identifying talent, implementing 
talent development plans and building a pipeline for 
critical roles, in line with ESRL’s strategic intent. 

Although budget constraints curtailed training to some 
extent, training for core skills such as train operations, 
a safety-crucial area, is ongoing, as is ad hoc management 
development for new managers. 

Currently, 60% of advertised vacancies are filled internally 
and we hope to improve this number and tie in with talent 
development. We are managing exits through natural 
attrition and non-critical roles are not being replaced. 

Building a high performance culture

Last year saw the launch of our employee engagement 
programme Sisonkhe (meaning “we’re doing this together” 
in Seswati) which stresses collaboration towards a 
common goal. 

The programme is helping us to define our desired future 
and identify the steps needed to achieve our objectives. 
It concentrates on defining culture, shaping how we lead 
people, and building effective teams and shared values.

Sisonhke will be phased in during the 2022/23 financial 
year, starting with management.
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Employee relations

Healthy and transparent employee relations are paramount 
to enhancing our corporate culture and a high-performing 
organisation. Employee relations are sound, and although 
there is room for improvement, the relationship with 
the bargaining groups is improving, due to regular 
engagement.

Our cost of living (COLA) salary negotiations for the 
2022/23 financial year with both the Eswatini Railways 
Union and our staff association were concluded swiftly, 
with a 3% COLA agreement effective 1 April 2022. 
Currently, 70% of staff are unionised and 20% belong to 
the staff association. 

Our last culture and engagement survey, conducted in 
2018/19, found an overall staff satisfaction rate of 63%. 
We would like to see this figure move to at least 75%, and 
a follow-up survey is planned for the 2022/23 financial year. 

Last year, within the scope of the ESR organisational 
review, we also evaluated culture at executive and senior 
management level.

One of the critical issues identified was perceived fairness, 
and we are striving to upskill management, leadership and 
communication skills and build better managers. This is an 
ongoing journey – not an event.

Overall findings
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Integrated wellness programme 

While we have strong management systems in place and 
are ISO 14001 certified, the organisation lacks a structured 
wellness programme. We are gradually adopting the 
integrated SANS 16001 wellness standard that focuses on 
mitigating non-occupational disease and wellness risks 
which are not managed through SHEQ. Primary healthcare 
services are currently provided through Human Resources 
and health services. 

Once implemented, we expect SANS 16001 to help reduce 
absenteeism, increase productivity and boost employee 
engagement.

Employee assistance programme

ESR recognises that we are multi-faceted beings, and our 
employee assistance programme (EAP) seeks to ensure 
a balanced lifestyle for our employees based on the Life 
Facet Wheel.

Life Facet 
Wheel
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ESR schools

ESR has two primary schools at Mpaka and Sidvokodvo 
Villages for the children of employees and the 
neighbouring communities. The schools’ manager is the 
HR manager. 

Employees are eligible to claim a monthly bus fare 
allowance for their high school children’s travel or for those 
based at remote stations such as Mlawula and Phuzumoya. 

Healthcare clinic 

ESR runs a fully-fledged primary healthcare clinic at Mpaka 
Station and a monthly mobile clinic ensures that all 
stations benefit from the clinic services. The clinic is open 
to employees, their dependents and the community. 

Our business (continued)



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Our business 65

Gym subsidy

A gym facility at Mpaka Station is open to all employees 
at a nominal cost. Alternatively, out-stationed employees 
or those who prefer to go to an established gym, receive 
a monthly gym subsidy of E200. Recreational facilities such 
as golf, tennis, cycling, soccer and netball are also available.

Housing at ESR village 

Employees based at Mpaka, Mlawula and Phuzumoya have 
the option of taking up housing at the ESR village where 
available. Shift workers, whose safety is paramount to ESR, 
are required to live at the ESR village. They do not receive 
a housing allowance but receive an amount to cover 
electricity and water.

Counselling

A wide range of counselling services is available through 
the EAP office including marital counselling, support 
with alcohol and substance abuse, mental health, 
stress management, personal financial planning, debt 
management and retirement planning. 

Effective leadership capacity

We are cognisant of leadership competency gaps across all 
levels of the organisation and have begun implementation 
of our Leading for Excellence programme; a monthly 
webinar presented by subject experts on a range of 
leadership themes and trends. 

This is an interim approach given the current financial 
constraints of the business, which unfortunately forced us 
to defer implementation of our new leadership framework, 
which has been rolled over to the 2022/23 financial year.

However, two leadership development programmes to 
build alignment at Exco level specifically were delivered in 
partnership with the Pacific Institute. 

Effective organisational structure

An organisational review was conducted by external 
consultants in January 2022 and recommendations, based 
on the findings, will be phased in from January 2023. 

Performance management

Performance management 
is an integral part of people 

management and feeds 
into the individual training 

and development needed 
to bridge the skills gaps 

identified in the organisation.

It is crucial in ensuring that employee outputs are 
congruent with the vision and strategy of the organisation 
to enable a high-performance culture. (Read more about 
talent development on page 63.)

Some 83% of employees attended performance 
evaluations in March 2022 and the concept of a merit 
increase has been introduced to reward performance and 
ease growth up the corporate ladder. 

Performance management continues to be a challenge 
at ESR and we still have some way to go to embed a 
performance management philosophy in the organisation. 

Recognising 
and Rewarding 

Performance

Performance 
Planning

Coaching and 
Feedback

 Reviewing and 
Appraising 

Performance

PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT

Employee costs

ESR’s employee cost-revenue ratio has been negatively 
impacted by the decline in revenue, in conjunction 
with the 2019 salary review, which increased staff costs 
significantly. This figure is currently at a concerning 40%, 
and we are aiming to reduce the ratio to at least 35% over 
the next three years. 

Headcount has already been reduced by around 4% due 
to natural attrition and non-critical roles are not being 
replaced.

In addition, the Komatipoort Lodge, the usual stopover 
point for train drivers was closed during COVID-19, and the 
system had to be reinvented. Crews are now transported 
from the base station at Mpaka to either Komatipoort 
or Kulela, a step that generated considerable savings in 
respect of accommodation costs. 
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EMPLOYEE 
TURNOVER

6.7% 
(Target <6%) 4%

Retirements 2% 
Voluntary

Age breakdown

72% 30–49 years

3% 20–29 years

24% 50–59 years

1% 60+ years

Demographics

     

Levels of education

17% 83% 18% 82%

358
(2020/21: 372)

Overall Management Number of employees

16% 17% 67%

Our business (continued)
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Absenteeism 

Sick leave days: 6 764 (Budgeted: 5 346)

This is concerning since sick leave is 85.4% higher than the 
3 648.50 leave days taken. Our annual leave target assumes 
an 80% uptake with 30% sick leave. 

While management of sick leave was difficult due to 
COVID-19, we would nevertheless like to see absenteeism 
levels come down to below 10%. 

Outlook

Human Resources and Development will continue to focus 
on implementing and facilitating interventions to support 
Eswatini Railways in achieving its vision and that support 
a high-performance culture. At the same time, we are 
working to build and strengthen relationships across the 
organisation to ensure industrial harmony, productivity 
and a happy, engaged workforce.

SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND 
QUALITY (SHEQ)

Vandalism of rolling stock or the track infrastructure 
increased during the year, while a sizeable proportion of 
railway incidents were a result of livestock being struck by 
a moving train. 

In addition, seven fatalities occurred due to people not 
being cautious, including not heeding the warning sounds 
of oncoming trains. In response, community awareness 
campaigns and radio adverts were successfully implemented 
in high-incident areas.

ESR continued to focus on quality management systems 
(QMS) to enhance customer service, and our achievements 
were recognised by the Ministry of Commerce and 
Industry at the 2021 Quality Awards in November 2021. 
ESR was awarded second runner-up in the category 
Organisation of the Year – Large Enterprise, and first 
runner-up in the Eswatini Service of the Year – Large 
Enterprise category. We also received a SADC certificate 
for our significant regional representation in the previous 
year’s regional SADC quality awards. 

ESR maintained our ISO 9001 (Quality Management 
Systems) and ISO 45001 (Occupational Health & Safety 
Management Systems) certification.
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Annual safety statistic report

CATEGORY P1 P2 P3 P4

Category A – Collisions 0 0 3 0
Category B – Derailments 3 3 1 2
Category C – Unauthorised movements 0 1 0 0
Category D – Level crossing 1 0 0 0
Category E – Persons struck 2 2 0 3
Category K – Spillage/leakage 0 0 0 0
Category L – Fires 0 0 1 0
Track and civil infrastructure failures 46 29 23 24
Signalling failures 20 42 24 35
Rolling stock failures 21 10 17 31
Incidents 13 11 5 18

Total occurrences

98 – 2nd quarter

74 – 3rd quarter

113 – 4th quarter 

106 – 1st quarter

Trendline

Our business (continued)
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Sustainability
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ESR recognises that stakeholder engagement and corporate 
social investment (CSI) are integral to our human, intellectual 
and social and relationship capitals and has developed a 
comprehensive stakeholder management programme and 
mapping exercise to strengthen our relationships with key 
stakeholders.

Sustainability 70

Stakeholder engagement 72

Communication 73

Corporate social investment 74

Business continuity 76
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Sustainability

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Although stakeholder engagement is currently ad hoc, a detailed stakeholder engagement matrix is in place to guide 
interactions. In the year ahead, we intend to prioritise proactive and strategic engagement with all our stakeholders, 
including Transnet Freight Rail (TFR), where the bulk of transit traffic originates, The Company Ports and Railways of 
Mozambique (CFM), our clients, and government ministries and departments, with a view to better understanding their 
needs and enhancing mutually-beneficial relationships.

Key stakeholders

Employees

Union and staff association

Customers/Suppliers  
and contractors

Strategic partners/ 
Industry bodies 

Government ministries  
(local and SADC)/Regulators/
Traditional authorities

Financial institutions/ 
Donor agencies

Communities

Media
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Corporate Communication’s role is to build and protect Eswatini 
Railways’ brand and reputation by reflecting a well-managed entity 

that aspires to provide exceptional service to all its stakeholders.
The department continued to serve as an important support function in the organisation during the year under review. 

Planned communication initiatives 

External (stakeholder) 
communication

 » Community outreach through safety campaigns – October 2022

 » ERL stakeholder engagement initiatives – ongoing

 » Media advertorials for CSI project launches – ongoing

 » The website has grown, with more people visiting the site to access the latest news, 
media releases and updates. The site is updated regularly.

Internal (stakeholder) 
communications

 » Quarterly CEO Business Update Communiqué

 » Bi-annual Loliwe newsletter – December 2022

 » The strategic plan will be cascaded to all employees across the organisation once 
approved. This will take the form of town hall meetings.

Social media Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn are used to communicate information on new 
developments and projects on an ongoing basis. We are currently developing a more 
strategic social media strategy aimed at making our online presence more effective.

COMMUNICATION
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Room for improvement 

The organisational review conducted during the year 
identified poor communication between management 
and subordinates and a weak culture of project 
management and ad hoc change management. 
Mentorship, coaching and succession planning were also 
found to be lacking.

The results of the employee engagement survey mirror 
these findings and highlight the need and opportunity for 
improved communication across the organisation. 

Communications will work closely with Human Resources 
and other departments in the year to guide and facilitate 
communication initiatives, cascade the outcomes of 
the employee engagement survey and organisation 
review, and support development of a high-performing 
organisation. 

Communication
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as a team
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CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT

As a responsible corporate 
citizen, ESR continued to 
contribute to education, 

environmental, community 
social development and 
economic development 
projects in the country.

Our corporate social investment (CSI) programme is 
governed by our CSI policy and forms part of our social 
and relationship capital. Our CSI initiatives prioritise 
sustainable long-term development projects for 
communities along the railway line.

Projects

Manzini Government offices enclave benches 

Over 500 people visit the Manzini Government offices 
every day, queuing for hours while they wait to be 
attended to. This year we contributed E200 000 to provide 
queuing benches.

Before ESR assisted the Regional Administrator  with queuing 
benches. 

Sustainability (continued)
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After the installation of benches.

Sustainable water schemes

ESR constructed two sustainable water schemes to 
the value of E500 000 to provide the Madvuma and 
Emvabuhlungu communities along the railway line with 
access to safe water. 

The 150 households, comprising a population of over a 
thousand had, until then, been fetching water more than 
10kms away. 

To ensure sustainability, community water management 
committees were established and trained on borehole 
maintenance by Water Aid, our implementation partner.

The project will be launched by the Board and Minister on 
18 March 2022.   

CSI projects 2021/22
Nature of support Amount E

The provision of queuing 
benches to the Siteki Town 
Council

150 000

Water schemes project 500 000

Media and project launches    75 000

Total 725 000
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BUSINESS CONTINUITY

In collaboration with consultants, we are reviewing our business continuity plan since it does not align with ISO 22310. 
The process is 60% complete and we are doing our utmost to close the gaps identified. 

Rail is classified as an essential service and, despite the impact of COVID-19, we also developed a mini business continuity 
plan to ensure all protocols were in place and that non-critical staff were able to work from home.

Risk Impact Cause Mitigation
Inherent 
risk score

Reliance on transit 
traffic

 » SR business 
reduced by +-73%

 » Financial losses
 » Significant threat 

to SR going 
concern

 » Possible ESR 
downsizing and 
retrenchments

 » Over-reliance 
on transit 
traffic volumes 
dominated 
(+-73%) by 
magnetite and 
rock phosphate

 » Revisit and review agreement of use 
of North-South line with strategic 
partners to keep volumes optimal.

 » Monitor and improve efficiency 
levels of current business to 
optimise the return on investment.

 » Implement ESRL project.
 » Fast track implementation of the 

diversification projects to ensure 
business continuity.

 » Aggressively look for new business 
and market existing business.

 » Engage the Ministry with regards to 
the proposal to refinancing the loan 
from Thelo.

 » Implement strategies to retain 
existing customers.

A

Unplanned IT and 
telecommunication 
outages

 » Train delays
 » Customer 

complaints
 » Financial loss
 » Compromised 

safety

 » Regulatory 
decisions

 » Equipment failure
 » Extended power 

outages
 » Interferences from 

neighbouring 
users of Spectrum

 » Adverse weather 
conditions

 » Theft and 
vandalism

 » Wild fires
 » Service provider 

discontinuing 
provision of 
services

 » Engage regulator to keep abreast 
with prevailing current decisions.

 » Strengthen maintenance 
programmes.

 » Invest in back-up power for all 
high sites and monitor the levels of 
power usage.

 » Control vegetation around the high 
sites.

 » Provide security personnel and 
guard houses for high sites.

A

Cyber attacks  » Service and 
equipment failure

 » Security breaches
 » Configuration 

failures

 » Ensure all devices receive the recent 
security patches and are up-to-date.

 » Implement a security plan.
 » Introduce change management 

training.

A

Sustainability (continued)
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Risk Impact Cause Mitigation
Inherent 
risk score

High number of 
employees not 
available for work 
(affected/infected)

 » Low productivity
 » Loss of revenue
 » Operational 

disruptions

 » COVID-19
 » Industrial action

 » ESR to put a resourcing plan in 
place (eg re-allocation of staff, the 
splitting of teams, staff rotation, 
work from home arrangements for 
employees who perform critical 
functions).

A

Increased incidents  » Derailments
 » Loss of 

productivity
 » Injuries and 

fatalities 
 » Financial loss
 » Customer 

complaints

 » Unsafe working 
conditions

 » Theft and 
vandalism

 » Human error
 » Adverse weather 

conditions 
 » Inadequate 

maintenance 
standards 

 » Inadequate 
contractor control

 » Ensure adherence to safe working 
procedures.

 » Enforce correct use of PPE.
 » Intensify weekly foot patrols and 

monthly trolley inspections.
 » Conduct safety awareness 

campaigns for communities where 
our tracks traverse.

 » Ensure all work done by contractors 
is conducted according to standard 
and that there is adequate 
supervision.

A

Disruption of 
supply chain for 
key supplies

 » Unavailability of 
materials 

 » Disruptions to 
operations 

 » Possible aloss of 
revenue 

 » Loss of customers

 » Pandemics 
 » Political climate
 » Adverse weather 

conditions 
 » Limited financial 

resources
 » Materials 

imported from 
neighbouring 
countries

 » Develop partnership agreements 
with contiguous railways in SADC 
region to lend ESR any materials 
that may be in short supply.

 » Consider keeping two month’s 
buffer stock for critical supplies.

B
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Safeguarding 
value
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Governance constitutes a central pillar of Eswatini 
Railways’ financial, intellectual and human capital. 
During the year under review, the Board executed all its 
scheduled activities as set out in the Board Charter and 
the Board of Directors’ Annual Work Plan. 
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Governance constitutes a central 
pillar of Eswatini Railways’ 
financial, intellectual and human 
capital. During the year under 
review, the Board executed all its 
scheduled activities as set out in 
the Board Charter and the Board 
of Directors’ Annual Work Plan. 

Safeguarding value

Alex Mngomezulu

Muzi A. Dlamini

Jack Louis Bello

Kholekile Mlangeni
Kudiabor

Stephenson Z. Ngubane

80
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Nixon Dlamini
Chief Executive Officer

Alex Mngomezulu

Khangeziwe Mabuza

Philile Nxumalo

Primrose Dlamini

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Safeguarding value 81
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Safeguarding value (continued)

Gender diversity 

OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

The Board is responsible  
for ensuring a sustainable 

future for the organisation.  
It achieves this by exercising 

the necessary care and 
oversight to ensure it is well 

managed, that regulatory 
provisions are adhered to, 
that the principles of good 

corporate governance  
are applied, and that  

the organisation is not 
faced with any avoidable or 

unnecessary risks.

Overall accountability and responsibility for the control 
and strategic direction of Eswatini Railways resides with 
the Board. To facilitate the effective discharge of this 
responsibility, directors have unrestricted access to all 
information, records and documents. Furthermore, the 
mandates of the Board and its sub-committees entitle 
directors to take independent advice at Eswatini Railways’ 
expense. Provision is also made for directors to attend 
training and development programmes to better equip 
them in the discharge of their duties.

Board composition and structure

Eswatini Railways has a unitary Board structure with 
separate and distinct roles and responsibilities for the 
non-executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. 
The Board consists of nine directors who are appointed 
by The Eswatini Government: Minister of Public Works and 
Transport, for a term not exceeding three years. All Board 
members are Eswati nationals.

The Chief Executive Officer is the only executive director 
on the Board. The non-executive directors are regarded as 
independent directors.

Induction 

On appointment, new directors undergo an induction 
programme to facilitate their understanding of the 
railway industry, ESR’s business environment, strategy 
and markets in which it operates, as well as to provide 
information on directors’ roles and responsibilities in terms 
of legislation, regulatory requirements and best practice. 
This programme includes governance training to educate 
new directors on good governance practices.

Remuneration

Directors’ emoluments are contained in the financial 
statements and, with that disclosure, deemed adequate. 

5 4
AGE  

PROFILE

44% 
30 – 49 44%

50 – 65 12% 
66 – 75

59

Youngest Oldest
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Changes to the Board

There was one change in the representation on the Board as its principal secretary Khangeziwe Mabuza was transferred to 
the Ministry of Tourism. Thulani Mkhaliphi was appointed in his stead by the Minister of Public Works and Transport.

The only other change was a vacancy for an operations and marketing director following the exit of the previous incumbent. 

Board meetings

The corporate calendar for the Board is approved annually in advance, taking into account the Board programme for the 
year. The Board meets a minimum of four times a year. It held five ordinary meetings during the year under review.

OUR BOARD COMMITTEES

In terms of the Board Charter, and to ensure effective corporate governance and appropriate oversight, the Board has 
established three sub-committees to assist in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities. 

The terms of reference are contained in the sub-committees’ mandates, which set out the sub-committees powers, 
functions, responsibilities, reporting mechanisms and authority to act. The Board, however, remains accountable. 
The mandate and terms of reference of each committee are reviewed annually.

The members of the sub-committees are all non-executive directors and, in respect of the Audit Committee, possess the 
requisite financial skills.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Philile Nxumalo – Chair 

Alex Mngomezulu – Member

Stephenson Ngubane – Member

Remuneration 
Committee

Kholekile Mlangeni-Kudiabor – Chair

Primrose Dlamini – Member

Philile Nxumalo – Member

Investment 
Committee

Muzi Dlamini – Chair

Jack Bello – Member

Thulani Mkhaliphi – Member
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Safeguarding value (continued)

Audit and Risk Committee
Mandate

To assist the Board in exercising its oversight role in respect of the preparation of accurate financial  reports and statements 
in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards; internal and external audit; applicable regulatory 
requirements; internal financial controls; financial risk management; and the safeguarding of ESR assets.

Focus areas FY2021/22 Focus areas FY2022/23

 » Considered and recommended Board approval of 
interim and annual financial statements for the reporting 
period

 » Monitored effectiveness, objectivity, independence and 
quality of the external auditor

 » Discuss and recommend the proposed budget for 
2022/23 for Board approval

 » Discuss and recommend for Board approval the 2021/22 
AFS

 » Receive and recommend approval of the Internal Audit 
Charter

 » Receive and recommend approval of the annual audit 
plan

 » Received quarterly reports from Operations & Marketing 
Department, Finance Department and Internal Audit 
Section

 » Recommend approval of agreements with contractors 
for the ESRL that are above the approval threshold of 
the CEO

Mandates and focus areas of the Board committees

Remuneration Committee
Mandate

To assist the Board in exercising its oversight role in respect of compliance & ethics, monitoring implementation of 
organisational policies and strategic processes, including the organisational review.

Focus areas FY2021/22 Focus areas FY2022/23

 » Organisational review

 » Compliance and ethics

 » Human Resources Department

 » Review of policies

 » Recruitment of Exco members
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Investment Committee
Mandate

To assist the Board in exercising its oversight role of safeguarding ESR assets, investments and projects

Focus areas FY2021/22 Focus areas FY2022/23

 » ERL

 » Monitor ESR investment portfolios and make 
recommendations on changes, including the disposal 
of assets

 » Monitor the performance of the Engineering 
Department

Board and sub-committee meeting attendance 

Board meeting attendance 

The Board met seven times in FY2021/22

Name Meetings attended

Alex Mngomezulu 6/7

Nixon Dlamini 6/7

Stephenson Ngubane 7/7

Muzi Dlamini 3/7

Kholekile Mlangeni-Kudiabor 7/7

Jack Bello 7/7

Khangeziwe Mabuza 5/7

Philile Nxumalo 7/7

Primrose Dlamini 7/7

Audit and Risk Committee 

The committee met five times in FY2021/22
Name Meetings attended

Philile Nxumalo 5/5

Stephenson Ngubane 4/5

Alex Mngomezulu 5/5

Remuneration Committee 

The committee met five times in FY2021/22
Name Meetings attended

Kholekile Mlangeni-Kudiabor 5/5

Philile Nxumalo 5/5

Primrose Dlamini 5/5

Investment Committee  

The committee met four times in FY2021/22
Name Meetings attended

Muzi Dlamini 4/4

Khangeziwe Mabuza 3/4

Jack Bello 4/4
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Function determines its focus areas 
for the year based on an assessment of key risks, either 
annually, if the risk is high, or every three years, if there is 
minimal risk.  

Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee at least 
four times a year.

Internal Audit focus areas 2022

Significant findings

Information and communications technology: The 
offsite data recovery site is not yet fully functional and 
the storage of data recovery backups on the premises is a 
major threat as it impacts a number of our systems.

Procurement: While the tender Board is appointed for a 
two-year period, the current Board has been in place for 
over five  years. A new Board must be appointed to bring 
ESR in line with the Public Procurement Regulatory Agency 
(PPRA). 

Going concern

The Board of Directors has evaluated all the events and 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability 
of Eswatini Railways to continue as a going concern, and 
also its operations for the foreseeable future to reach a 
conclusion. The Board believes that Eswatini Railways has 
adequate financial resources to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future without the existence of 
a material uncertainty and accordingly the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
The directors also note that events since the COVID-19 
pandemic, which was declared by the World Health 
Organisation on 11 March 2020, has negatively affected 
certain revenue streams as expected. However, there is 
currently no indication to suggest that Eswatini Railways 
will not continue as a going concern. Refer to note 34 for 
additional details.

Subsequent events

At the date of approval of the financial statements there 
were no material events that occurred subsequent to the 
reporting date that required adjustments to amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. However, refer 
to note 33 for additional details on events that require 
disclosure in the financial statements.

Declaration of dividends

A dividend of E2 000 000 has been declared. This has been 
accounted for in the statement of changes in equity.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements, 
comprising the statement of financial position at 
31 March 2021 and the statements of comprehensive 
income; changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended; the notes to the financial statements which include 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes; and the directors’ report, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the 
manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as 
amended.

Accounts payable

Budget management

Final accounts

Human resources (employee 
engagement, leave management, 
onboarding, terminations)

Information and communications 
technology (ICT)

Payroll

Procurements and tenders

Revenue management

Signals and telecoms (adherence to 
maintenance, turnaround time of 
fault correction)

Safeguarding value (continued)
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The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management as well as for the preparation of the supplementary 
schedules included in these financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe 
that Eswatini Railways will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962 as amended.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements set out on pages 98 to 143 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 August 2022 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

A Mngomezulu  N Dlamini

Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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Financial 
statements

for the year ended 31 March 2022
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ESR showed resilience because of a 
concerted effort as well as the support 

given to the organisation by all customers 
who remained and supported the business.

Statement of responsibility by the Board 
of Directors

90

Independent auditors’ report 91

Directors’ report 93

Statement of comprehensive income 98

Statement of financial position 99

Statement of changes in equity 100

Statement of cash flows 102

Summary of significant accounting policies 103

Notes to the financial statements 118

Detailed income statement not subject to 
audit opinion

144
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Statement of responsibility by the 
Board of Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising the 
statement of financial position at 31 March 2022 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management as well as for the preparation of the supplementary 
schedules included in these financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe 
that Eswatini Railways will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements set out on pages 98 to 143 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 August 2022 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

A Mngomezulu – Chairman N Dlamini – Chief Executive Officer P Nxumalo – Director
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE MINISTER OF PUBLIC WORKS AND TRANSPORT AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
ESWATINI RAILWAYS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Eswatini Railways set out on pages 98 to 143, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Eswatini Railways as 
at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors ’ responsibilities for the audit of financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of Eswatini Railways in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Eswatini and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the statement of responsibility 
by the Board of Directors, the directors report and the detailed income statement. Other information does not include the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing Eswatini Railways’ ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditors ’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 » Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

 » Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Eswatini Railways’ 
internal control.

 » Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

 » Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on Eswatini Railways’ ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause Eswatini Railways to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

 » Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Auditors

Independent Auditors’ Report 
(continued)
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of Eswatini Railways for the year 
ended 31 March 2022.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Eswatini Railways is a parastatal which is wholly owned by the Government of the Kingdom of Eswatini under the Ministry of 
Public Works and Transport.

Eswatini Railways is governed by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended. 

Eswatini Railways owns railway infrastructure, rolling stock and controls local and international rail transportation throughout 
the Kingdom of Eswatini.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Eswatini Railways Board of Directors (“the Board”) provides strategic direction to Eswatini Railways taking into account, 
amongst others, the need to foster sound corporate governance and a vigilant risk management process.

Eswatini Railways has a unitary Board structure with separate and distinct roles and responsibilities for the non-executive 
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The directors are appointed by the owner (The Eswatini Government: Minister of 
Public Works and Transport) for a three-year term.

Overall accountability and responsibility for the control and strategic direction of Eswatini Railways resides with the Board. 
To facilitate the effective discharge of such responsibility, directors have unrestricted access to all information, records and 
documents. Further, the mandates of the Board and its sub-committees entitle directors the right to take independent 
advice at Eswatini Railways’ expense. Also, to enhance the abilities of directors, provision is made for a director to attend such 
training and development programmes as would better equip him or her to discharge his or her responsibilities to Eswatini 
Railways.

Directors

The Board comprises of nine directors. The Chief Executive Officer of Eswatini Railways is the only executive director on the 
Board. The non-executive directors are regarded as independent directors.

Board Meetings

The corporate calendar for the Board is approved annually in advance, taking into account the Board programme for 
the year.

The Board meets, as a minimum, four times a year. The Board had five ordinary meetings during the year under review.

Board sub-committees

In order to ensure effective corporate governance, give attention to providing support to the executives and exercise 
appropriate oversight, the Board has three sub-committees in place. These are the Audit and Risk, Remuneration and 
Investment Committees.

Some of the functions of the Board are delegated to these sub-committees. The terms of reference of the sub-committees 
are contained in the sub-committees’ mandates. These mandates set out the sub-committees’ powers, functions, 
responsibilities, reporting mechanisms and authority to act. The Board, however, remains accountable.

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

Board sub-committees (continued)

The members of the sub-committees are all non-executive directors and, in respect of the Audit Committee, they possess 
the requisite financial skills.

The Audit and Risk Committee met eight times during the year under review.

The Remuneration Committee met six times during the year under review.

The Investment Committee met five times during the year under review.

Internal audit

A well-established internal audit department is in place and operates in accordance with the internal audit charter approved 
by the Board. The internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee at least four times a year.

EAST/WEST LINE REHABILITATION AND VALUATION OF INFRASTRUCTURAL ASSETS

During the 2003/2004 financial year, Eswatini Railways completed the rehabilitation of the East/West line at a total cost 
of E123 975 938. While performing the rehabilitation, certain assets were replaced, while others were modified. On the 
completion of the exercise, it became difficult to determine the cost of assets removed and the cost of assets modified, 
and therefore the cost of the East/West line as a whole could not be determined.

As a consequence of the above, Eswatini Railways resolved to carry out an engineering valuation of the entire 
infrastructure. The applicable valuation method was the depreciated replacement cost as the assets of the Railway are 
highly specialised and their market value is not readily available. Eswatini Railways completed the valuation during the 
year ending 31 March 2013. The valuation considered depreciated replacement cost and value in use for the year ending 
31 March 2013. This resulted in Eswatini Railways’ property, plant and equipment being valued at E1.78 Billion, with a net 
notional revaluation surplus of E1.53 Billion after considering the carrying amount of the assets which was E256 Million in 
the valuation year (2013). The results of the valuation are not accounted for in the financial statements in accordance with 
the accounting policy which requires property, plant and equipment to be stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes funds received from the Eswatini Government as equity for the 
development of Eswatini Rail Link (ESRL) project. The funds are ringfenced and are not available for operational use 
by ESR but solely for the resettlement of households affected by the project. The funds are invested in near cash facilities 
valued at E247 068 972 at the close of the financial year.

GOING CONCERN

The Board of Directors has evaluated all the events and conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of 
Eswatini Railways to continue as a going concern, and also its operations for the foreseeable future to reach a conclusion. 
The Board believes that Eswatini Railways has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable 
future without the existence of a material uncertainty and accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Refer to note 34 for additional details.

Directors’ report (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2022



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Financial statements 95

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At the date of approval of the financial statements there were no material events that occurred subsequent to the reporting 
date that required adjustments to amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, refer to note 33 for additional 
details on events that require disclosure in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of Eswatini Railways during the year and to the date of approval of the financial statements were as follows:

Mr Alex Mngomezulu Chairperson

Mr Nixon Dlamini Chief Executive Officer

Mr Stephenson Ngubane Member

Mr Muzi Dlamini Member

Mrs Kholekile Mlangeni-Kudiabor Member

Mr Jack Bello Member

Ms Khangeziwe Mabuza Member 

Ms Philile Nxumalo Member

Mrs Primrose Dlamini Member

SECRETARY – SCRIBE

Ms Phindile Sikhondze

DECLARATION OF DIVIDENDS

Eswatini Railways declared a dividend of ENil in the current year (2021: E2 000 000) to the Government of the Kingdom 
of Eswatini.
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Postal address Physical address 

Eswatini Railways Eswatini Railways Building

P O Box 475 Dzeliwe Street

Mbabane Mbabane

AUDITORS

SNG Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Eswatini) are the independent auditors of Eswatini Railways.

Postal address Physical address 

P O Box 331 Umkhiwa House

Mbabane Lot 195, Kal Grant Street

 Mbabane

BANKERS AND INVESTEES

Postal address Physical address 

Nedbank Eswatini Limited Nedbank Centre

P O Box 68 Swazi Plaza

Mbabane Mbabane

STANLIB Eswatini Ingcamu Building

P O Box A294 Mhlambanyatsi Road

Swazi Plaza Mbabane

Standard Bank Eswatini Corporate Place

P O Box A294 Swazi Plaza

Swazi Plaza Mbabane

Eswatini Building Society Cnr Mdada & Dzeliwe Streets

P O Box 300 Mbabane

Mbabane 

African Alliance Eswatini Nedbank Centre

P O Box 5727 Cnr Dr Sishayi & Sozisa Roads

Mbabane  Swazi Plaza, Mbabane

Directors’ report (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2022
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Postal address Physical address 

Inhlonhla Development House

P O Box 239 Swazi Plaza

Swazi Plaza Mbabane

Old Mutual Eswatini Public Service Pensions Fund Building

P O Box 95 Mhlambanyatsi Road

Mbabane Mbabane

Sanlam Investment Management Swaziland 3rd Floor, Fincorp Building

P O Box 8392 Corner Gwamile and Dabede Streets

Mbabane Mbabane

LAWYERS

Postal address Physical address 

Robinson Bertram Robinson Bertram

P O Box 24 Lot 44 and 45 Ingcongwane Building

Mbabane Gwamile Street

 Mbabane

INVESTMENT ADVISORS
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Notes
2022

E
2021

E

Revenue 9 247 275 373 264 374 813
Other income 10 18 876 940 17 085 671
Operating expenses (149 737 345) (136 592 261)
Administration expenses (123 681 513) (116 220 950)
Operating (loss)/profit 6 (7 266 545) 28 647 273

Finance income 8 17 023 387 14 678 829
Finance costs 8 (25 933 264) (37 126 075)

Net finance costs 8 (8 909 877) (22 447 246)
(Loss)/profit before income tax (16 176 422) 6 200 027
Income tax credit/(expense) 24 3 386 374 (938 148)
(Loss)/profit for the year (12 790 048) 5 261 879

Other comprehensive income
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income – net changes in fair value 20 750 000 (4 588 400)
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit (12 040 048) 673 479

Statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 March 2022
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Statement of financial position
at 31 March 2022

Notes
2022

E
2021

E

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 641 084 642 639 074 838
Investment property 11 4 699 057 4 827 398
Equity investments at FVOCI 13 2 356 961 17 356 961
Deferred tax assets 25 24 746 032 20 507 729
Right-of-use asset 32 – 1 270 600

672 886 692 683 037 526

Current assets
Inventory 14 18 788 154 9 643 629
Trade and other receivables 15 61 194 776 50 426 228
Investments – short term 23 20 530 000 20 500 000
Equity investments at FVOCI 13 15 750 000 –
Cash and cash equivalents 23 312 855 663 363 475 751
Taxation prepaid 28 6 470 170 7 322 099

435 588 763 451 367 707
Total assets 1 108 475 455 1 134 405 233
EQUITY
Eswatini Government equity 16 446 780 425 446 780 425
General reserve 18 85 231 805 85 231 805
Capital reserve 19 60 446 100 63 193 650
Fair value reserve 20 12 071 567 11 321 567
Revaluation surplus 319 636 319 636
Retained earnings 103 710 888 113 753 386

708 560 421 720 600 469
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease – non-current 17 87 037 736 122 603 087
Long-term loans – non-current 17 155 557 717 157 857 462
Embedded derivatives 31 12 258 206 14 815 434
Right-of-use liability – non-current 17 – 1 185 838

254 853 659 296 461 821
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 74 028 380 41 677 515
Finance lease – current 17 41 104 087 34 584 611
Long-term loans – current 17 13 555 909 19 559 541
Payroll accruals 22 6 719 427 7 243 997
Dividends payable – 2 000 000
Right-of-use liability – current 17 – 355 927
Bank overdraft 23 9 653 572 11 921 352

145 061 375 117 342 943
Total liabilities 399 915 034 413 804 764
Total equity and liabilities 1 108 475 455 1 134 405 233
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Eswatini 
Government 

equity
E

General 
reserve

E

Capital 
reserve

E

Fair 
value 

reserve
E

Revaluation 
reserve

E

Retained 
earnings

E
Total

E

Year ended  
31 March 2022
Balance at  
31 March 2021 446 780 425 85 231 805 63 193 650 11 321 567 319 636 113 753 386 720 600 469

Comprehensive  
loss for the year
Loss for the year – – – – – (12 790 048) (12 790 048)
Other 
comprehensive 
income – – – 750 000 – – 750 000
Transfer from  
capital reserve – – (2 747 550) – – 2 747 550 –

– – (2 747 550) 750 000 – (10 042 498) (12 040 048)

Transactions with 
owners
Contribution – – – – – – –
Dividends – – – – – – –
 – – – – – – –
Balance at  
31 March 2022 446 780 425 85 231 805 60 446 100 12 071 567 319 636 103 710 888 708 560 421

 

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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Eswatini 
Government

equity

E

General
reserve

E

Capital 
reserve

E

Fair 
value 

reserve
E

Revaluation
reserve

E

Retained 
earnings

E
Total

E

Year ended  
31 March 2021
Balance at  
31 March 2020 279 200 236 85 063 435 65 941 200 28 502 967 319 636 95 319 327 554 346 801

Comprehensive  
income for the year
Profit for the year – – – – – 5 261 879 5 261 879
Other comprehensive  
(loss) – – – (4 588 400) – – (4 588 400)
Transfer to  
general reserve – 168 370 – – – (168 370) –
Transfer to  
retained income – – – (12 593 000) – 12 593 000 –
Transfer from  
capital reserve – – (2 747 550) – – 2 747 550 –

– 168 370 (2 747 550) (17 181 400) – 20 434 059 673 479

Transactions with 
owners
Contribution 167 580 189 – – – – – 167 580 189
Dividends – – – – – (2 000 000) (2 000 000)

167 580 189 – – – – (2 000 000) 165 580 189
Balance at  
31 March 2021 446 780 425 85 231 805 63 193 650 11 321 567 319 636 113 753 386 720 600 469
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Notes
2022

E
2021

E

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated by operations 26 23 457 404 56 482 787
Finance income 8 14 466 159 16 236 693
Finance costs (25 834 374) (36 919 389)
Tax paid 28 – –
Net cash generated from operating activities 12 089 189 35 800 091

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of financial assets – 15 000 000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (20 502 807) (13 673 826)
Proceeds from disposal of assets 1 081 217 9 700
Net cash (utilised in)/generated from investing activities (19 421 590) 1 335 874

Cash flows from financing activities
Equity receipt from Government – 167 580 189
Dividends paid (2 000 000) –
Finance lease repaid (30 686 530) (17 700 859)
Loans repaid (8 303 377) (10 560 479)
Net cash (utilised in)/generated from financing activities (40 989 907) 139 318 851

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and bank balances (48 322 308) 176 454 816
Cash and bank balances at the beginning of the year 372 054 399 195 599 583
Cash and bank balances at the end of the year 23 323 732 091 372 054 399

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Eswatini Railways is a parastatal which is wholly owned by the Government of the Kingdom of Eswatini. 

Eswatini Railways was established and is governed by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, as amended.

Eswatini Railways owns railway infrastructure and controls local and international rail transportation in the Kingdom 
of Eswatini.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

 2.1 Statement of compliance and basis for preparation

The financial statements of Eswatini Railways have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Swaziland Railway Act of 1962, 
as amended.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial assets valued 
at fair value.

The financial statements have been approved by the Board on 9 August 2022.

  2.1.1 Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements 
in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements are described in the following notes:

 » Note 4 – Fair value measurements

 » Notes 11 and 12 – Depreciation, useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment and investment property

 » Note 15 – Trade and other receivables

 » Note 30 – Contingencies

 » Note 31 – Embedded derivatives

  2.1.2 Going concern

Eswatini Railways meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through the use of its cash 
reserves and bank facilities. Forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible 
changes in trading performance, show that the entity should be able to operate within the 
level of its current resources and facilities. The directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the entity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Eswatini Railways therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its 
financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.1 Statement of compliance and basis for preparation (continued)

  2.1.3 Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards were effective from 1 April 2021 but they do not have a material 
effect on Eswatini Railways’ financial statements.

  2.1.4 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of Eswatini Railways for the year ended 
31 March 2022, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

   Effective for the financial year commencing 1 April 2022

 » References to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)

 » Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018–2021 cycle

 » Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

 » Property, plant and equipment: proceeds before intended use (Amendments to IAS 16)

   Effective for the financial year commencing 1 April 2023

 » IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

 » Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) – proposed delay 
to 1 April 2023

The above standards are not expected to have a significant impact on Eswatini Railways.

 2.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Eswatini Railways 
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

Rental income – Income represents operating lease income and is accounted for under IFRS 16.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance 
obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue 
recognition policies.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Financial statements 105

Type of product/
service

Nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations, including 
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition policies

Transportation  
services 

Transport services are to be 
recognised “over time” since 
transportation is the service, during 
which the customer receives and 
consumes simultaneously the benefit 
as Eswatini Railways performs the 
service. The customer benefits based 
on the distance travelled.
Invoices are usually payable by the 
customer within 30 days.

Revenue is recognised over time as 
the services are provided. The stage 
of completion for determining the 
amount of revenue to recognise is 
assessed based on estimated time to 
completion of transportation services.

Other revenue Other revenue is recognised at the 
point in time when sale has been 
commenced and control over the 
goods has been transferred.

Revenue is recognised at a point in 
time when the goods have been 
accepted by customers.

 2.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to Eswatini Railways and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset (less its residual 
value) over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is charged in full in the year of disposal.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings   60 Years

Rolling stock   20–40 Years

Infrastructural assets   20–100 Years 

Plant, machinery and furniture  5–20 Years

Motor vehicles   3–5 Years

Depreciation is not charged on land and certain infrastructural assets consisting mainly of earthworks, 
tunnels, roads and bridges, and culverts. The cost of maintenance of these assets is written-off as it is 
incurred. Depreciation is charged on major projects from the time they are commissioned (when the 
asset is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management).

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 
included in the profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are 
transferred to retained earnings.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 2.4 Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, 
rather than for:

 » sale in the ordinary course of business;

 » use in the production or supply of goods or services; or

 » for administrative purposes.

Investment property is recognised as an asset when it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential that are associated with the investment property will flow to Eswatini Railways, and the 
cost or fair value of the investment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis. The estimated useful life of the buildings is 60 years. 
Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, 
or service a property. If a replacement part of a property is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
investment property, the carrying amount of the replaced part of a property is derecognised.

Where investment property is acquired at no cost or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits or service potential is expected from the 
investment property.

Compensation from third parties for investment property that was impaired, lost or given up is recognised 
in profit or loss when the compensation becomes receivable.

 2.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, Eswatini Railways reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or Cash Generating 
Units (“CGU’s”).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a  
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 2.6 Foreign currency translation

  (a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency“). The financial 
statements are presented in Eswatini Emalangeni (E), rounded to the nearest one, which is also 
Eswatini Railways’ functional currency.

  (b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss. Translation differences related 
to changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amounts 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary financial 
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit 
or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities, are included in 
other comprehensive income.

 2.7 Financial instruments

  2.7.1 Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets 
and financial liabilities are initially recognised when Eswatini Railways becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant 
financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

  2.7.2 Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – debt 
instrument; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, unless Eswatini Railways 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

  2.7.2 Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL:

 » It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

 » Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, Eswatini Railways may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election 
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition Eswatini 
Railways may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be 
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so would eliminate or significantly 
reduce an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

   Financial assets – business model assessment

Eswatini Railways makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

 » The stated policy and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 
practice;

 » How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to Eswatini Railways’ 
management;

 » The risks that affect the performance of the business model and how these are managed;

 » How managers of the business are compensated; and

 » The frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 
such sales and expectations about future sales.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

  2.7.2 Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

    Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the 
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of 
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, 
Eswatini Railways considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing 
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount 
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, 
Eswatini Railways considers:

 » Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

 » Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

 » Prepayment and extension features; and

 » Terms that limit Eswatini Railways claim to cash flows from specified assets.

   Financial assets – subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL: 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost:
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

  2.7.2 Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

   Financial assets – subsequent measurement and gains and losses (continued)

Equity instruments at FVOCI: 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income 
in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit 
or loss.

   Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such 
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and 
losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. See Accounting policy 2.19 for derivatives.

  2.7.3 Derecognition

   Financial assets

Eswatini Railways derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred or in which Eswatini Railways neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the 
risk and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

   Financial liabilities

Eswatini Railways derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged 
or cancelled, or expire. Eswatini Railways also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.

  2.7.4 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, Eswatini Railways has a legally-enforceable right to set 
off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

  2.7.5 Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Eswatini Railways measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the 
following which are measured at 12-month ECLs.

 » debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

 » other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring 
over the expected life of the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition).

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, Eswatini Railways considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessments including forward-looking information.

Eswatini Railways assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is 
more than 60 days past due.

The Railways considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 » the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse 
by the company to actions such as realising security if any is held; or

 » the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 
12 months after the reporting date or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is 
less than 12 months.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which Eswatini Railways is exposed to credit risk.

   Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Railways 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Railways expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

  2.7.5 Impairment (continued)

   Credit impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Railways assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data.

 » significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

 » a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

 » the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Railways on terms that the Railways would not 
consider otherwise;

 » it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

 » the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

   Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

   Write-offs

The Railways writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery e.g. when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. However, financial 
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with 
the Railways’ procedures for recovery of amounts due.

 2.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of Eswatini Railways’ cash management.

 2.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when Eswatini Railways has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and 
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the 
likelihood of an outflow with respect to one item included in the class may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an 
interest expense.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.10 Finance income and finance costs

Eswatini Railways’ finance income and finance costs include:

 » interest income;

 » interest expense;

 » the net gain or loss on the disposal of investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI;

 » the net gain or loss on financial assets at FVTPL;

 » the foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities; impairment losses (and 
reversals) on investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost or FVOCI.

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date on which Eswatini Railways’ right to receive payment is established.

The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

 » the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

 » the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. 
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

 2.11 Leases

At inception of a contract, Eswatini Railways assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration.

  As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, Eswatini Railways 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone  
prices. However, for the leases of property Eswatini Railways has elected not to separate non-lease 
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

Eswatini Railways recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.11 Leases (continued)

  As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to Eswatini 
Railways by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that Eswatini Railways 
will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In 
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, Eswatini Railways’ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, Eswatini Railways uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Eswatini Railways determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the 
asset leased. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 » fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

 » variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 
at the commencement date;

 » amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;

 » the exercise price under a purchase option that Eswatini Railways is reasonably certain to exercise; and

 » lease payments in an optional renewal period if Eswatini Railways is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless Eswatini Railways is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change 
in Eswatini Railways’ estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, 
if Eswatini Railways changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero.

  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Eswatini Railways has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. Eswatini Railways recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.11 Leases (continued)

  As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, Eswatini Railways allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 
When Eswatini Railways acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, Eswatini Railways makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, 
then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, Eswatini 
Railways considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of 
the asset.

When Eswatini Railways is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the  
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use 
asset arising from the head lease, without reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term 
lease to which Eswatini Railways applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as 
an operating lease.

Eswatini Railways recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straightline 
basis over the lease term as part of other income.

 2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is based on the 
first-in-first-out principle, and includes expenditure in acquiring the inventories and other costs in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less the cost to sell where inventories are not for own use.

 2.13 Operating profit

Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue-producing activities of the 
Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities. Operating profit excludes net 
finance costs and income taxes.

 2.14 General reserve

It is Eswatini Railways’ policy to transfer up to 25% of the profit for the year after taxation to the general 
reserve. The transfer is done through the statement of changes in equity.

 2.15 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

 2.16 Government grants

Capital-based Government grants are included directly in the statement of changes in equity, as Eswatini 
Railways is wholly owned by the Government of the Kingdom of Eswatini. The grants received are used 
for expenditure on capital projects. The Government grant is decreased annually by the amount of 
depreciation charged to the assets for which the capital grants were used.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.17 Employee benefits

  (a) Pension Obligations

The Eswatini Railways Provident Fund is a defined contribution plan. For defined contribution 
plans, Eswatini Railways pays contributions to publicly- or privately-administered pension plans 
on a mandatory, contractual, or voluntary basis. Once the contributions have been paid, Eswatini 
Railways has no further payment obligations. The regular contributions constitute net periodic 
costs for the year in which they are due, and as such are included in staff costs in profit or loss.

Eswatini Railways also has a defined benefit plan, Eswatini Railways Pension Fund. This defined 
benefit plan provides eligible employees guaranteed income for life when they retire. Eswatini 
Railways makes a specific retirement benefit provision for each participant that is based on 
the employees’ years of service. Eswatini Railways Pension Fund is a closed fund and will be 
terminated once there are no longer pensioners.

  (b) Terminal Benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the 
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. Eswatini Railways recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed either to terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

  (c) Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the 
employee renders the related service. The accrual for employee entitlements to salaries and 
annual leave represents the amount that Eswatini Railways has a present obligation to pay, as a 
result of employees’ services provided up to the reporting date. The accrual has been calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on current salary rates.

 2.18 Taxation

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

  Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax 
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects 
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Summary of significant accounting 
policies (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 2.18 Taxation (continued)

  Deferred income taxes

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

 »  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

 »  temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the 
extent that Eswatini Railways is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

 » taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Temporary differences in relation to a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for a specific lease are regarded 
as a net package (the lease) for the purpose of recognising deferred tax. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits 
are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable 
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, 
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans of 
Eswatini Railways.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of 
future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

 2.19 Derivative financial instruments

Embedded derivatives are separated from host contracts and are accounted for separately if certain criteria 
are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Any directly attributable transactions costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition derivatives are measured at fair value, and 
changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.



ESWATINI RAILWAYS INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22118

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 3.1 Financial risk factors

Eswatini Railways’ activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, the most important being market risk, 
credit risk, and liquidity risk.

Eswatini Railways’ overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Eswatini Railways.

  (a) Market risk

Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk. The Board continuously 
monitors the fluctuations and appropriate action is taken.

  (i) Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument 
or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The equity investments are listed on the Eswatini Stock Exchange (ESE). A 1.5% increase in share 
prices at the reporting date, with all other variables held constant, would have increased profit 
or loss by E257 454 (2021: E246 204); an equal change in the opposite direction would have 
decreased profit or loss by E257 454 (2021: E246 204). The analysis is performed on the same basis 
for 2021, which is on the fair value of the Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation Limited and Greystone 
Partners Limited equity shares.

The Eswatini Building Society permanent shares are not exposed to price risk as they are not traded.

  (ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

Eswatini Railways’ income and operating cash flows are affected, but not to a significant extent, 
by changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at 
variable rates expose Eswatini Railways to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed 
rates expose Eswatini Railways to fair value interest rate risk.

Eswatini Railways’ borrowings are mainly variable interest rate borrowings and as such they 
expose the Railways to cash flow interest rate risk. The sensitivity of these borrowings can be 
shown as follows:

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

  (a) Market risk (continued)

  (ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

2022
E

2021
E

Current finance lease liabilities (41 104 087) (34 584 611)
Non-current finance lease liabilities (87 037 736) (122 603 087)
Current portion of long-term loans (13 555 909) (19 559 541)
Non-current portion of long-term loans (155 557 717) (157 857 462)
Short-term deposits (Note 23) 303 202 091 351 548 248
Fixed deposits (Note 23) 20 530 000 20 500 000
Interest-bearing financial assets (Note 13.1) 943 361 943 361
Total variable rate instruments 27 420 003 38 386 908
Interest rate fluctuation 1% 1%
Additional interest receivable/(payable) 274 200 383 869
Tax effect (at 27.5%) (75 405) (105 564)
Net of tax (equity) effect 198 795 278 305

  (iii) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currency exchange risk is the risk that the financial instruments that are denominated in 
foreign currency will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Eswatini Railways’ exposure to currency risk at the reporting date consists of trade receivables, 
trade payables, derivative financial instruments and finance lease liabilities. Trade receivables and 
trade payables with South African counterparts have no exchange rate differences because the 
Eswatini Emalangeni (E), and the South African Rand (ZAR) are linked at par.

The finance lease liabilities with Thelo Rolling Stock were denominated in US dollars until 
31 May 2016. A new agreement was re-negotiated between Thelo Rolling Stock and Eswatini 
Railways. The new agreement is quoted in local currency (Emalangeni). Exchange differences that 
occurred up to 31 May 2016 were recognised in profit or loss.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

  (a) Market risk (continued)

  (iii) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The following exchange rates applied during the year for Eswatini Railways:

Reporting  
date

Bank selling 
rate

2022
E

2021
E

USD 1 14.51 14.95

Average rate

2022
E

2021
E

USD 1 14.86 16.37

 Sensitivity analysis 

At 31 March 2022, there were no foreign currency denominated financial instruments. As such, 
no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

  (b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the Railways to incur a financial loss.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with financial institutions, as well as 
credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
Eswatini Railways’ cash equivalents and short-term deposits are placed with reputable financial 
institutions. Management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its 
financial position, past experience and other factors. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the statement of financial position represent 
Eswatini Railways’ maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.

Eswatini Railways has significant exposure spread over six individual customers. Management 
does not expect any losses from non-performance by any of its counterparties.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

  (c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Eswatini Railways will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, 
the availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the 
ability to close out market positions. Eswatini Railways remains confident that the available cash 
resources and borrowing facilities will be sufficient to meet its funding requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity reserves (which comprise undrawn borrowing 
facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses Eswatini Railways’ financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

 

Less than 
1 year

E

Between 
2 and 

5 years
E

Over 
5 years

E

NON-DERIVATIVE  
FINANCIAL ASSETS
At 31 March 2022
Financial assets – FVOCI 15 750 000 2 356 961 –
Cash and bank balances (Note 23) 323 732 091 – –
Trade and other receivables (Note 15) 63 908 481 – –

403 390 572 2 356 961 –

At 31 March 2021
Financial assets – FVOCI – 17 356 961 –
Cash and bank balances (Note 23) 372 054 399 – –
Trade and other receivables (Note 15) 53 197 715 – –

425 252 114 17 356 961 –

 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

   There are no derivative financial assets (2021: ENil)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

  (c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Less than 
1 year

E

Between 
2 and 

5 years
E

Over 
5 years

E

NON-DERIVATIVE  
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
At 31 March 2022
Finance leases  41 104 087 87 037 736 –
Right-of-use liability – – –
Trade and other payables 74 028 380 – –
Long-term loans 13 555 909 155 557 717 –

128 688 376 242 595 453 –

At 31 March 2021
Finance leases 34 584 611 122 603 087 –
Right-of-use liability 355 927 1 185 838 –
Trade and other payables 41 677 515 – –
Long-term loans 19 559 541 157 857 462 –

96 177 594 281 646 387 –

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES
At 31 March 2022
Embedded derivative – – 12 258 206

– – 12 258 206

At 31 March 2021
Embedded derivative – – 14 815 434

– – 14 815 434

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 3.2 Capital risk management

Eswatini Railways’ objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Eswatini Railways may adjust the amount of 
contributions from shareholders, return capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in industry, Eswatini Railways monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including “current and non-current borrowings” as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash 
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the statement of financial position 
plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 were as follows:

2022
E

2021
E

Total borrowings (note 17) 297 255 449 336 146 466
Cash and bank balances (note 23) (323 732 091) (372 054 399)
Net debt (26 476 642) (35 907 933)
Total equity 708 560 421 720 600 469
Total capital 708 560 421 720 600 469
Gearing ratio – –
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4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The table below analyses amounts carried at fair value by the level of fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy 
depends on the extent to which quoted prices are used in determining the fair value of the specific instruments. 
The different levels are defined as follows:

  Level 1:  Fair value is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
These are readily available in the market and are normally obtainable from multiple sources.

 Level 2:  Fair value is based on input other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 Level 3:  Fair value is based on input for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data 
(i.e. unobservable inputs).

 The following table presents the Railways assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 March.

Level 1
E

Level 2
E

Level 3
E

At 31 March 2022
ASSETS
Financial assets – 18 106 961 –
LIABILITIES
Embedded derivative – 12 258 206 –

Level 1
E

Level 2
E

Level 3
E

At 31 March 2021
ASSETS
Financial assets – 17 356 961 –
LIABILITIES
Embedded derivative – 14 815 434 –

Level 1 financial instruments are based on quoted prices for The Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation Limited shares 
and Greystone Partners Limited shares which are listed on the Eswatini Stock Exchange. However, as the market for 
these shares is not active the instruments are classified as Level 2. Eswatini Building Society permanent shares are 
not quoted and are redeemable at cost.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Eswatini Railways makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The valuation of derivatives are accounting estimates that 
could have a risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. At year end accounting estimates and assumptions were included in the assessment of the following:

2022
E

2021
E

Depreciation (Notes 11, 12 and 32) 18 875 464 19 368 085
Deferred tax asset (Note 25) 24 746 032 20 507 729
Embedded derivatives (Note 31) 12 258 206 14 815 434

6. OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT
Operating (loss)/profit is arrived at after taking into account the 
following:
Auditors’ remuneration
– Current year audit fees 653 736 650 260
– Prior year audit fees 737 583 108 948
Directors’ emoluments
– Sitting allowances 377 745 308 938
– Board committee meetings – other expenses 242 474 254 309
– Retainer fees 180 109 207 167
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1 081 217) (9 700)
Repairs and Maintenance 41 193 139 35 747 532
PEU management fees 2 081 035 2 374 549

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
13th cheque 5 486 785 6 136 296
Gratuity 1 385 343 1 706 104
Medical aid 5 770 194 5 788 246
Pension and provident fund 9 925 064 9 994 614
Terminal benefits 10 710 711 5 842 994
Salaries, wages and allowances 98 670 505 101 056 438

131 948 602 130 524 692

The average number of employees during the year was 358 (2021: 371)
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2022
E

2021
E

8. NET FINANCE COSTS
Finance income:
Fair value changes in embedded derivatives 2 557 228 (1 557 864)
Interest income on short-term deposits 14 466 159 16 236 693
Total finance income 17 023 387 14 678 829
Finance costs:
Interest expense on finance lease liabilities and bank loans (25 933 264) (37 126 075)
Total finance costs (25 933 264) (37 126 075)
Net finance (costs)  (8 909 877)  (22 447 246)

9. REVENUE
Revenue comprises the following:
Transit revenue 203 515 318 200 389 182
Exports 20 679 846 25 974 587
Imports 23 080 209 38 011 044

247 275 373  264 374 813

10. OTHER INCOME
Profit on disposal of assets 1 081 217  9 700
Passenger revenue 267 121 –
Demurrage and storage  2 140 453 4 497 943
Sale of scrap 3 585 441 2 349 816
Rental income 11 802 708 10 228 212

18 876 940 17 085 671

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Opening balance 4 827 398 4 955 629
Depreciation (128 341) (128 231)
Closing balance 4 699 057 4 827 398
Cost 7 780 911 7 780 911
Accumulated depreciation (3 081 854) (2 953 513)
Carrying value  4 699 057  4 827 398

Investment property comprises Eswatini Railways owned properties at Sidvokodvo, Matsapha and Kadake that are 
leased to third parties. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee annually. No contingent rentals are 
charged. These properties are valued on the historical cost basis. A register of properties owned by Eswatini Railways 
is available for inspection at the registered office.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Buildings and infrastructural assets are included at revalued amounts established on 21 September 1977. Land in 
Ezulwini Valley costing E11 250 000 was acquired on 1 June 2018. The land was financed through a loan from 
Nedbank at an interest rate of prime.

Buildings, land and surveys comprise 19 properties situated in the Manzini, Hhohho and Lubombo Districts of 
the Kingdom of Eswatini. A register of properties owned by Eswatini Railways is available for inspection at the 
registered office.

Infrastructural Assets comprise the Permanent Way, Tunnels, Bridges and Culverts, Water Supplies, Telecommunications 
Systems, Signalling, Crossings, Signs and Fencing along the line.

Assets pledged as collateral for borrowings have been disclosed in note 17.

Refer to note 17.1 for details of Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases.

Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated items which are still in use with an initial cost of 
E69 461 602 (2021: E66 257 162).

2022
E

2021
E

13. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FVOCI

Current 15 750 000 –
Non-current 2 356 961 17 356 961

Financial assets  18 106 961 17 356 961

13. 1 Equity investments at FVOCI include the 
following:
Listed investments
The Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation Limited – 93 000 
ordinary shares at quoted market value 1 413 600 1 413 600
Greystone Partners Limited – 5 000 000 (2021: 10 000 000) 
ordinary shares at quoted market value 15 750 000 15 000 000

17 163 600 16 413 600
Unlisted investments
Swaziland Building Society permanent shares 943 361 943 361

The cost of the Eswatini Building Society permanent shares approximates fair value. The shares will be 
redeemed at nominal value

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2022
E

2021
E

14. INVENTORY
Ballast 214 018 551 385
Concrete and timber sleepers 2 574 013 2 748 481
Petrol, diesel and spares  7 135 836 2 567 699
Rails 7 790 757 2 507 282
Wheel sets 1 073 530 1 268 782

18 788 154 9 643 629

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Transnet Freight Rail 40 958 983 41 834 203
African Rail and Traction 1 026 703 2 059 263
Grindrod Logistics Africa 10 266 197 –
Traffic receivables 3 056 029 2 044 157
Allowance for credit losses (2 713 705) (2 771 487)
Provision for credit notes – (1 004 103)
Trade receivables-net 52 594 207 42 162 033
Sundry receivables 4 232 891 3 524 684
Staff receivables  64 039 50 539
Prepayments 1 919 767 2 119 293
Value Added Tax refund 1 560 045 986 886
Fuel levy refund receivable 823 827 1 582 793
Other receivables 8 600 569 8 264 195
Total trade and other receivables 61 194 776 50 426 228

The above values of trade and other receivables approximate fair value. Concentration of credit risk 
is in respect of Transnet Freight Rail and five other large customers. As of 31 March 2022, E2 713 705 
(2021: E2 771 487), has been provided for as impaired. The remaining customers have no history of default. 
Management believes that there is no additional credit risk with respect to accounts receivable and no 
further allowance for credit losses is considered necessary. Eswatini Railways does not hold any collateral 
as security.
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Gross 
2022 

E

Impairment 
2022

E

Gross 
2021

E

Impairment 
2021

E

15. TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES 
(continued)
The ageing of trade and other 
receivables as at the reporting date 
was as follows:
Not past due 61 194 776 – 50 426 228 –
Past due 2 713 705 (2 713 705) 2 771 487 (2 771 487)

63 908 481 (2 713 705) 53 197 715 (2 771 487

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable 
mentioned above. 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is denominated in the following currencies:

2022
E

2021
E

Rand (ZAR) 41 985 686 42 889 363
Emalangeni (E) 21 922 795 10 308 352

63 908 481  53 197 715

The Rand and the Emalangeni are linked in a ratio of 1:1.

16. ESWATINI GOVERNMENT EQUITY
Equity contribution 246 689 381 246 689 381
Grant converted to equity 200 091 044 200 091 044

446 780 425 446 780 425

The Government of Eswatini converted various loans and grants amounting to E12 859 934 to fixed permanent 
capital on 23 February 1994. The purpose of this was to relieve the Railways’ debt burden and thereby enable it to 
undertake its capital works programme without an unmanageable level of debt.

In 2021 the Government of Eswatini contributed E159 600 000 towards the Eswatini Rail Link project in the 
current year.

E7 980 189 was received for the Matsapha Inland Clearance Depot (Dry port/ICD) expansion. Grant funding was 
received from the Government of Eswatini being a donation from the Republic of China on Taiwan towards 
the project. 

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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2022
E

2021
E

17. BORROWINGS
Nedbank Eswatini Limited – rolling stock loan – 4 980 343
Nedbank Eswatini Limited – land loan 7 857 462 10 157 207
The Public Service Pensions Fund 161 256 164 162 279 453
Finance lease liabilities (note 17.1) 128 141 823 157 187 698
Right-of-use liability (note 32.2) – 1 541 765
Total liabilities 297 255 449 336 146 466

Analysed as:
Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (note 17.1) 87 037 736 122 603 087
Long-term loans 155 557 717 157 857 462
Right-of-use liability (note 32.2) – 1 185 838

242 595 453 281 646 387
Current
Finance lease liabilities (note 17.1) 41 104 087 34 584 611
Long-term loans 13 555 909 19 559 541
Right-of-use liability (note 32.2) – 355 927

54 659 996 54 500 079

The Nedbank long-term loans were advanced to acquire locomotives and wagons, and these are secured by 
the following:

 » Lien over funds held on Corporate Deposit investment limited to E15 000 000.

 » Deed of hypothecation for E12 575 000 over wagons.

 » Deed of hypothecation for E34 000 000 over wagons and fuel tankers against any further drawdowns on 
the MTL.

 » First Continuing Covering Mortgage Bond for E11 250 000 over portion 10 (a portion of portion 1) of Farm 
No. 850 Hhohho District, Eswatini.

 » Lien over assets financed under RCL facility;

 » Comprehensive insurance cover over assets financed under RCL facility with Nedbank Eswatini Limited noted as 
first loss payer; and

 » Deed of pledge and cession over call account balances.

The locomotives’ facility is repayable in monthly instalments of E2 372 980, and the wagons’ facility is repayable 
in monthly instalments of E1 657 601. The lease expiry date as stated in the original contracts was amended from 
October 2024 to 31 January 2025. The interest rate for these facilities is the Eswatini prime rate and at year end the 
rate was 7.5% (2021: 7.25%).

A loan amounting to E150 000 000 was received from The Public Service Pensions Fund. The loan attracts interest 
annually at prime plus 1%. A rate of 11.25% was applied in the first year commencing on 3 May 2019, interest 
thereafter is at 9%. The loan principal is payable after five years and annual repayments of interest are repayable on 
each subsequent anniversary date.
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2022
E

2021
E

18. GENERAL RESERVE
Opening balance 85 231 805 85 063 435
Transfer from retained earnings
25% of current year profits after taxation. There was no transfer – 168 370
in the current year since losses were made.
Balance at year end 85 231 805 85 231 805
It is the policy of the Railway to transfer 25% of profits after 
taxation to a general reserve account through an appropriation 
of retained earnings. This is accounted for through the 
statement of changes in equity.

19. CAPITAL RESERVES
East/West line – concrete sleepers 15 800 000 15 800 000
East/West line rehabilitation 87 150 000 87 150 000
Matsapha Dry Port 6 952 000 6 952 000

109 902 000 109 902 000
Release of depreciation:
Prior years (46 708 350) (43 960 800)
Current year (2 747 550) (2 747 550)
Balance at year end 60 446 100 63 193 650

These amounts relate to a grant received from the Government 
of Eswatini for the rehabilitation of the East/West Line and the 
Matsapha Dry Port expansion.
An amount equivalent to depreciation charged to profit or loss 
relating to the assets acquired, as stated above, is released from 
capital reserves each year. This is accounted for through the 
statement of changes in equity.

20. FAIR VALUE RESERVE
Balance at the beginning of the year 11 321 567 28 502 967
Disposal of investment in current year – (12 593 000)
Current year fair value gains/(losses) 750 000 (4 588 400)
Balance at year end 12 071 567 11 321 567
The fair value reserve arises from fair value gains on financial
assets. (note 13.1)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables 51 112 338 24 216 260

Accruals 22 916 042 17 461 255
74 028 380 41 677 515
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2022
E

2021
E

22. PAYROLL ACCRUALS
Leave pay 4 703 457 5 012 486
13th cheque 1 407 091 1 460 179
Gratuity 608 879 771 332

6 719 427 7 243 997

22.1 Reconciliation of movements in payroll accruals
Opening balance 7 243 997 8 119 466
Additions – –
Utilised/reversed (524 570) (875 469)
Closing balance 6 719 427 7 243 997

Leave pay

This amount represents a liability in respect of employees’ leave days not utilised at year end.

13th cheque

This relates to the 13th salary cheque that is paid to all permanent employees.

Gratuity

An accrual is made for payments in accordance with the renewable contracts of eligible employees. 
The accrual is calculated at the percentage rate of the value of the annual salary included in the 
remuneration package of the employees as at the terminal date recognised over the number of completed 
years of service.

2022
E

2021
E

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand 4 007 6 151
Short-term deposits 312 851 656 363 469 600
Bank overdraft (9 653 572) (11 921 352)
Cash and cash equivalents 303 202 091 351 554 399
Fixed deposits 20 530 000 20 500 000
Cash and bank balances for the purposes of the 
statement of cash flows: 323 732 091 372 054 399

The Railways has an overdraft facility of E15 000 000, obtained for the purpose of working capital, at rates linked to 
the prime overdraft rate and is payable on demand. At year end the rate was 7.5% (2021: 7.25%).

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to E247 068 972 are set aside to exclusively fund Eswatini Rail Link project 
activities. These funds are held with Sanlam Enhanced Funds and Old Mutual.

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022



INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT // Financial statements 135

2022
E

2021
E

24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Current income tax current year (Note 28) – –

prior year (Note 28) 851 929 (851 929)
Deferred income tax current year (Note 25) (4 238 303) 1 911 372

prior year (Note 25) –  (121 295)
(3 386 374) 938 148

Eswatini Railways had an estimated tax loss at 31 March 2022 which 
is available for setoff against future taxable income amounting to 
E173 235 434 (2021: E151 054 358).

The reconciliation between accounting profit and the tax expense is 
as follows:
(Loss)/profit before income tax (16 176 422) 6 200 027
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 27.5% (2021: 27.5%) (4 448 516) 1 705 008
Income not subject to tax – –
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 210 213 206 364
Prior year tax – normal tax 851 929 (851 929)
Prior year tax – deferred tax – (121 295)

(3 386 374) 938 148

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences 
under the liability method using a tax rate of 27.5%.

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
At the beginning of the year as previously reported 20 507 729 22 297 806
Income tax charge to statement of comprehensive income (note 24) 4 238 303 (1 790 077)
At the end of the year  24 746 032 20 507 729 



ESWATINI RAILWAYS INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22136

Estimated
loss

E

Accelerated
depreciation

E

Provisions
and 

prepayments
E

Derivative
financial

instruments
E

Total
E

25. DEFERRED  
TAX  
ASSETS 
(continued)
As at 31 March 2022
Deferred income tax 
asset – net
At 31 March 2021 41 539 948 (27 966 312) 2 859 849 4 074 244 20 507 729
Charged to statement 
of comprehensive 
income 6 099 796 (536 614) (621 642) (703 237) 4 238 303
At 31 March 2022 47 639 744 (28 502 926) 2 238 207 3 371 007 24 746 032

As at 31 March 2021
Deferred income tax 
asset – net
At 31 March 2020 42 806 187 (27 189 718) 3 035 505 3 645 832 22 297 806
Charged to statement 
of comprehensive 
income (1 266 239) (776 594) (175 656) 428 412 (1 790 077)
At 31 March 2021 41 539 948 (27 966 312) 2 859 849 4 074 244 20 507 729

2022
E

2021
E

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(Loss)/profit before income tax (16 176 422) 6 200 027
Adjusted for: 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 12) 18 493 003 18 518 482
Depreciation of investment property (note 11) 128 341 128 231
Loss on modification on lease 1 016 480 –
Depreciation of right-of-use asset (note 32.1) 254 120 721 372
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 6) (1 081 217) (9 700)
Investment income (note 8) (14 466 159) (16 236 693)
Interest expense (note 8) 25 933 264 37 126 075
Fair value change in embedded derivative (note 31) ( 2 557 228) 1 557 864

11 544 182 48 005 658
Changes in:
– Inventories ( 9 144 525) 4 663 236
– Trade and other receivables (10 768 548) 12 129 662
– Trade and other payables 32 350 865 (7 440 300)
– Payroll accruals (524 570) (875 469)
Cash generated from operations 23 457 404 56 482 787

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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27. RELATED PARTIES
Eswatini Railways is a wholly owned Eswatini 
Government parastatal.
(i) Government of the Kingdom of Eswatini
The following equity transactions were entered into between 
Eswatini Railways and the Government of the Kingdom of Eswatini.
Government Funding – 159 600 000
Republic of China, Taiwan Grant – 7 980 189 

– 167 580 189
Certain transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis 
with parastatals owned by the Government of the Kingdom 
of Eswatini including, but not limited to electricity, water, 
telephone, municipal rates and taxes, corporate taxes and PEU 
Management fees.
PEU Management fees 2 081 035 2 374 549

(ii) Eswatini Railways classifies all Eswatini Central Government entities as related parties.

 (iii)  Transactions with key management personnel.

Key management personnel are those who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Railways, directly or indirectly, including all directors as well as close members of the family of 
any of these individuals.

Transactions with key management personnel include salaries and bonuses. Compensation paid to directors and 
other key management personnel is shown below.

 Compensation 

Compensation for directors includes the Chief Executive Officer’s salary and post-employment benefits. Key 
management personnel comprises of the Chief Financial Officer, Director Engineering, Director Human Resources 
and Director Operations.

Directors
E

Key
management

personnel
E

Total
E

2022
Short-term employee benefits 1 385 649 4 727 505 6 113 154
Post-employment benefits – – –

1 385 649 4 727 505 6 113 154
2021
Short-term employee benefits 972 985 4 089 946 5 062 931
Post-employment benefits 227 365 1 833 388 2 060 753 

1 200 350 5 923 334 7 123 684 

Non-executive Directors’ emoluments is disclosed in note 6.
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28. INCOME TAX LIABILITY/(ASSET)
Opening balance ( 7 322 099) (6 470 170)
Income tax charge (refer to note 24) 851 929 (851 929)
Tax paid – –
Closing balance (6 470 170) ( 7 322 099)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
29.1 Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each category of financial asset and liability as defined in IFRS 9 are as follows:

Amortised
cost

E

Assets at fair
 value through

 profit or loss
E

Assets at fair 
value through

OCI
E

Total
E

31 March 2022 
Assets as per statement 
of financial position
Financial assets – – 18 106 961 18 106 961
Trade and other 
receivables 63 908 481 – – 63 908 481
Cash and bank 
balances 323 732 091 – – 323 732 091
Total 387 640 572 – 18 106 961 405 747 533

31 March 2021
Assets as per statement 
of financial position
Financial assets – – 17 356 961 17 356 961
Trade and other 
receivables 54 201 818 – – 54 201 818
Cash and bank 
balances 372 054 399 – – 372 054 399
Total 426 256 217 – 17 356 961 443 613 178

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
29.1  Financial instruments by category (continued)

Liabilities at 
fair value 

through profit 
and loss

E

Amortised
cost

E
Total

E

31 March 2022
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Trade and other payables – 74 028 380 74 028 380
Loans and borrowings – 297 255 449 297 255 449
Right-of-use liability – – –
Embedded derivatives 12 258 206 – 12 258 206
Total 12 258 206 371 283 829 383 542 035 

31 March 2021
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Trade and other payables – 41 677 515 41 677 515
Loans and borrowings – 334 604 701 334 604 701
Right-of-use liability – 1 541 765 1 541 765
Embedded derivatives 14 815 434 – 14 815 434
Total 14 815 434 377 823 981 392 639 415

2022
E

2021
E

29.2 Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither 
past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference 
to the external credit ratings (if available) or historical 
information about counterparty default rates. 

Trade receivables
–  Counterparties without external credit ratings 13 322 226 2 044 157
–  Counterparties with external credit ratings 40 958 983 41 834 203

The entity’s receivables domiciled in Eswatini do not 
have external credit ratings. The entity has categorised 
all its debtors as low risk.

Cash at bank and short-term deposits 
– Cash and bank balances (note 23) 323 732 091 372 054 399

For cash and cash equivalents, deposits are only placed with banks and financial institutions of a reputable 
nature. Fixed deposits are balances that mature after three months but before 12 months.
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30. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
30.1 Capital commitments

Eswatini Rail Link project 435 000 000 441 730 599
ICD Expansion 367 639 692 348 763 357
Normal capital expenditure 56 912 838 55 015 150

859 552 530 845 509 106

The expenditure will be funded by internally-generated cashflows, existing cash and cash equivalents, 
undrawn overdraft facilities and long-term loans. Eswatini Railways holds E247 068 972 in cash and 
cash equivalents received from Government to exclusively fund the Eswatini Rail Link project activities 
(refer note 23).

Normal capital expenditure is expected to be incurred in the next financial year. The other capital 
expenditure is expected to be incurred in the next five financial years.

30.2 Contingencies
Eswatini Railways is defending a number of actions brought by former employees. Liability is not admitted, 
and Eswatini Railways will defend itself against the actions. Due to the nature of the claims, a realistic 
estimate of the potential liability and legal costs is not practical. The directors are of the opinion that the 
total liability and costs, if any, would not be material.

30.3 Contingent liabilities and commitments
As part of bank overdraft facilities Eswatini Railways has the following contingent liabilities with Nedbank 
Eswatini who have issued guarantees with no expiry dates on behalf of Eswatini Railways.

2022
E

2021
E

Guarantees issued
Eswatini Revenue Authority 834 600 946 255
Department of Labour – 300 000
Thelo Rolling Stock 12 606 690 12 606 690

Bank facilities
Current account 15 000 000 15 000 000
Revolving Credit Line 10 000 000 10 000 000

This overdraft facility attracts interest at the Eswatini prime rate. At year end the rate was 7.5% (2021: 7.25%).

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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31. EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES
Adjustments arising from US$/ZAR exchange rate 4 461 588 13 647 951
Adjustments arising from LIBOR rate fluctuations 7 796 618 1 167 483

12 258 206 14 815 434

Eswatini Railways entered into a lease arrangement with Thelo Rolling Stock for locomotives and wagons.

These leases are denominated in South African Rands (ZAR). The arrangement allows for adjustments to be made 
based on changes in the South African prime lending rate, the LIBOR rate and the US$/ZAR exchange rate.

Since the leases are denominated in ZAR, adjustments based on changes in the South African prime lending rates 
are closely related to the host contract and as such are not embedded derivatives.

However adjustments arising from changes in the LIBOR rate and US$/ZAR exchange rate (which are not closely 
related to the host contract) are considered to be multiple embedded derivatives.

The following are the inputs and assumptions made in the valuation of the embedded derivatives:

 » The maturity date used for the valuation of the embedded derivatives is 25 September 2024.

 » The US$/ZAR forward curve has been used for projecting the future US$/ZAR exchange movements.

 » The US$/ZAR forward curve up to 5 years has been used. The forward points beyond 5 years have been 
extrapolated linearly.

 » The LIBOR rate was projected using the forward rates from the US$3M LIBOR swap curve.
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32. LEASES
32.1 Right-of-use assets (ROA)

Present value of ROA
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 433 185 2 133 016
Current year recognition – 300 169
Termination of lease (2 433 185) –
Balance at the end of the year – 2 433 185 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at beginning of the year (1 162 585) (441 213)
Current depreciation (254 120) (721 372)
Termination of lease 1 416 705 –
Balance at end of the year – (1 162 585)
Carrying value at the beginning of the year 1 270 600 1 691 803
Carrying value at 31 March 2022 – 1 270 600

Golela – 340 192
A.J. Van Coller 254 120 381 180
Depreciation for ROA 254 120 721 372
Loss on termination of lease (1 016 480) –

32.2 Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities included in the statement of 
financial position at 31 March
Current – 355 927
Non-current – 1 185 838

– 1 541 765

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Finance cost 98 890 182 581
Capital payments 227 973 465 383
Lease payments 326 863 647 964

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
Total cash flow for leases (326 863) (647 964)
Gain on termination o f lease 1 313 792 –

Notes to the financial statements 
(continued) for the year ended 31 March 2022
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

At the date of approval of the financial statements there were no material events that occurred subsequent to 
the reporting date that required adjustments to amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, the 
company entered into a E10 million loan agreement with Standard Bank Eswatini. This loan is guaranteed by the 
Public Enterprise Unit under the Ministry of Finance. The construction of the Mpaka ICD (Phase I) commenced and 
the costs are estimated at E20 million. There were no other events that require disclosure in the financial statements.

34. GOING CONCERN

 Russia/Ukraine war 

The positive changes in coal prices have presented an opportunity which has been countered by a spike in fuel 
costs which affects operational margins.

 KZN Floods 

The unfortunate events of the floods affected the flow of both imports and exports which include containers to and 
from Durban and fuel coming from Durban. All refineries closed, limiting availability of fuel. This extended to transit 
revenue as operations at the port of Richards Bay was reduced due to the wet weather.

The political unrest in Eswatini and South Africa in June/July 2021 and recent flooding in Durban and KZN has 
damaged rail and port infrastructure and negatively impacted the Railways’ ability to increase revenue resulting in a 
loss in the current financial year end.

The directors are of the view that the strong financial position, liquidity and short-term investments together 
with access to facilities from the shareholder and financial institutions should result in the Railways being able 
to continue as a going concern. Eswatini Railways is a Government parastatal but it does not solely rely on 
Government for financial support.

At year end, net cash and cash equivalents amounted to E323 million, with E303 million readily accessible for use 
in the operations of the Eswatini Railways thus providing sufficient liquidity for the Railways for at least 12 months 
after the date of approval of the financial statements. The readily available cash and cash equivalents as at 
31 May 2022 was E261 million.

The Railway has long-term debt obligations (loans and leases) repairs and maintenance costs, and salaries and 
wages costs as its major monthly obligations. In a worst case scenario, the entity will be able to maintain its 
obligations with the cash resources it already has at its disposal. Cash flow forecasts for the next 12 months show a 
positive cash influx to the Railways, which confirms the use of the going concern assumption.

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. After 
taking into account the impacts described above, management are of the view that no material uncertainty 
exists which may cast significant doubt on the Railways’ ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, it 
will be able to realise its assets and settle its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The directors concur with 
management’s assessment.

The Board of Directors believe that Eswatini Railways has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future and accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Detailed income statement not 
subject to audit opinion 
for the year ended 31 March 2022

2022
E

2021
E

Revenue 247 275 373 264 374 813
Other income 18 876 940 17 085 671
Interest income  17 023 387 14 678 829 

283 175 700 296 139 313
Operating and administrative expenses
Accident compensation and investigation 1 453 253 2 493 327
Advertising and promotions 423 192 384 377
Assessment rates and royalties 683 333 647 865
Auditors remuneration 1 391 319 759 208
Bad debts (recovered)/written off (347 100) 509 452
Bank charges 906 718 716 954
Business meetings 199 823 168 320
Cartage (337 121) (191 935)
Cleaning 1 133 200 1 169 746
Company membership 764 173 108 623
Computer expenses and licenses 2 267 455 2 776 789
Consultancy fees 87 800 180 000
Consumables 403 225 343 294
Corporate social responsibility 1 119 042 621 243
Depreciation 18 875 464 19 368 085
Directors expenses 800 328 770 414
Electricity and water 10 045 688 9 124 045
Employee relations 261 321 63 998
Fuel and containers traffic 1 009 781 1 186 928
Fuel imports and exports 11 990 091 6 269 537
Fuel locomotive expenses and recovery (3 462 255) ( 3 859 885)
Fuel operational motor vehicles 2 271 382 1 753 755
Haulage and operations (916 495) (1 143 973)
Heavy plant hire 1 018 797 701 762
Insurance 10 479 153 10 430 900
Legal fees 386 963 297 554
Loan interest and finance costs 25 933 264 37 126 075
Locomotives and wagon hire 1 732 258 8 223 353
Medical and IOD expense 767 746 726 228
Membership subscriptions and periodicals 98 483 225 187
Operating costs – CFM 2 564 165 1 505 760
Perway material 7 606 333 3 274 884
PEU management fees 2 081 035 2 374 549
Printing and stationery 285 441 172 537
Protective clothing 2 193 660 504 770
Public relations 266 488 197 196
Rental accommodation 853 711 918 773
Repairs and maintenance 41 193 139 35 747 532
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Risk management 9 292 –
Safety and security 3 854 984 4 161 542
Salaries and wages 131 948 602 130 524 692
Strategic plan expenses 4 167 440 189 964
Telephone 5 395 444 5 403 660
Tender Board expenses 72 746 141 138
Training and education 2 241 730 1 629 566
Transport services 589 168 85 362
Travelling and accommodation 659 124 384 622
Wellness 367 744 394 080
Work assignment 1 561 595 377 433
Total expenditure 299 352 122 289 939 286
(Loss)/profit before income tax (16 176 422) 6 200 027
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Contact details

Eswatini Railways Building 

Dzeliwe Street Mbabane

P.O. Box 475 Mbabane  
Hhohho Hl00 
Kingdom of Eswatini 

Tel: (+268) 2411 7400

Fax: (+268) 2411 7499

Email: lnfo@eswatlnlrall.co.sz 

wwww.eswatinirail.co.sz
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